Linda Karlsson

Psychological factors associated with vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors







Linda Karlsson Born 1987

Previous studies and degrees

Bachelor's degree in Psychology, Åbo Akademi University, 2011 Master's degree in Psychology, Åbo Akademi University, 2014 Licensed Psychologist, 2014



Psychological Factors Associated with Vaccine Attitudes and Vaccination Behaviors

Linda Karlsson

Department of Psychology Faculty of Arts, Psychology and Theology Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland, 2021

Supervised by

Docent Anna Soveri, PhD Faculty of Medicine University of Turku, Finland

Associate Professor Jan Antfolk, PhD Faculty of Arts, Psychology and Theology Åbo Akademi University, Finland

Professor Mikael Lindfelt, PhD Faculty of Arts, Psychology and Theology Åbo Akademi University, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Karen Douglas, PhD School of Psychology University of Kent, United Kingdom

Professor Ève Dubé, PhD Faculty of Social Sciences Laval University, Canada

Opponent

Professor Karen Douglas, PhD School of Psychology University of Kent, United Kingdom

Cover art by David Crunelle, Minja Westerlund, & Linda Karlsson

Author photo by Satu Karmavalo

ISBN 978-952-12-4110-9 (printed) ISBN 978-952-12-4111-6 (digital) Painosalama, Åbo, Finland 2021

Acknowledgements

This work has received funding from Åbo Akademi University (the Department of Psychology, the Doctoral Training Network for Minority Research [MinRes], and a grant awarded for the final stage of doctoral studies by the Rector of Åbo Akademi University) and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 964728 (JITSUVAX). I wish to express my gratitude to the people who participated in our studies and took their time to respond to our survey questions. I am also deeply grateful to my pre-examiners, Professor Karen Douglas and Professor Ève Dubé, for providing me with insightful and constructive comments on the thesis.

There are many people that I have had the privilege to work and spend time with during my years as a PhD student. First, I want to thank my supervisors. A few lines in this acknowledgement can never reflect the gratitude I owe you, Dr Anna Soveri and Professor Jan Antfolk. It is because of your support and encouragement, and your great knowledge about science, that I have come this far. Above all, I am grateful for our friendship. Thank you, Anna Soveri, for being there for me in every situation, and for involving me in your projects and giving so much of your time to make me succeed. Thank you, Jan Antfolk, for always making me feel that I can accomplish things when I am in doubt, and for being so insightful and helping me see things differently when I lack perspective. I am also deeply grateful to Professor Mikael Lindfelt for involving us psychologists in your idea to study vaccine attitudes. Your initiative is the starting point for this thesis and has led to many opportunities for me. I would also like to thank everybody in the VaccAtt group. Dr Carolin Ahlvik-Harju, Laura Brännkärr-Väänänen, Professor Bengt Kristensson Uggla, Otto Mäki, Professor Pamela Slotte, and Dr Jenni Spännäri, thank you for our interdisciplinary collaboration and discussions that have given me a broader perspective on our research topic, and thank you for the collegial support and encouragement.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Professor Stephan Lewandowsky for our collaboration. Your dedication to and pragmatic perspective on science is truly inspiring, and I have learned so much from you. I want to thank the FinnBrain project for allowing us to survey your sample of parents, and especially Professor Hasse Karlsson, Professor Linnea Karlsson, Dr Saara Nolvi, and Professor Max Karukivi for being so helpful, for working together with us on the surveys and articles, and for including us in your group. I am also thankful to Professor Paula Salo, Professor Tuula Oksanen, and Professor Mika Kivimäki at the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health for allowing us to collect data from your sample of healthcare professionals. Thank you also to Dr Emma Audas, Malin Fredriksson, Marlijn Meijer, and Dr Minja Westerlund in the MinRes group. You had already known each other for a while when I joined the group, and you made me feel immediately welcome. I very much enjoyed our dinners, discussions, and our archipelago tour.

I am extremely grateful to everybody at the psychology department. All of you make the department the most supportive, interesting, and fun working environment. I especially want to thank Professor Patrick Jern and Dr Petra Grönholm-Nyman for always being helpful, and Professor Matti Laine for employing me as a research assistant when I had finished my master's degree. I am deeply grateful to all the people who have worked alongside of me in Kuvösen. Dr Daniel Fellman, Dr Annika Gunst, Dr Alar Kaskikallio, Paula Kresanov, Marianne Källström, Dr Karolina Lukasik, Dr Thomas Nyman, Dr Francesco Pompedda, Liisa Ritakallio, Rosa Salmela, Dr Alessandro Tadei, Dr Daniel Ventus, Dr Otto Waris, and Dr Minja Westerlund, every one of you make the everyday work meaningful and so much more fun, and your peer support has been so important for me. I would especially like to thank Annika Gunst, for being my close friend since 2008 when we started to study psychology together. You played a great role in why I started my doctoral studies. Thank you, Thomas Nyman, for all the support you have given me and for helping me to find confidence in myself as a researcher. Thank you, Minja Westerlund, for always being there for me. Regardless of where you are in the world, your company always feels like home.

Finally, I would like to thank my mother and father. For your unconditional love that I have never doubted a second of my life, that has given me so much security, and that is the beginning to everything I am and do. For this, I cannot thank you enough.

Turku, October 2021

And Ken

Table of contents

List of original publications	7
Abstract	8
Sammanfattning	10
1. Introduction	12
1.1. Terminology	13
1.2. Vaccine Uptake and Herd Immunity	14
1.3. Attitudes as Correlates of Vaccination Behaviors	15
1.4. Motives for Holding Negative Vaccine Attitudes and Refusing Vaccines	17
1.5. The COVID-19 Pandemic	20
1.6. The Role of Health Professionals	21
2. Aims and Expected Results	23
3. Method	27
3.1. Respondents	27
3.2. Measures	28
3.3. Statistical Analyses	32
4. Results	33
4.1. Study I: Nonconformist Identity as a Motive for Vaccine Attitudes and Vaccination Behaviors	33
4.2. Study II: Evolved Disease-Avoidance Mechanisms as Motives for Perceived Vaccine Safety and Vaccination Intentions	37

	4.3. Study III: Perceived Disease Risk and Vaccine Safety as Predictors of COVID-19 Vaccination Intentions	39
	4.4. Study IV: Vaccination and Recommendation Behaviors Among Health Professionals	43
5	Discussion	47
	5.1. Vaccine Attitudes, Vaccination Behaviors, and Vaccination Intentions in the General Population	47
	5.2. Motives Behind Vaccine Attitudes, Vaccination Behaviors and Vaccination Intentions	49
	5.3. Perceived Disease Risk and Vaccine Safety as Predictors of Vaccination Intentions During the Pandemic	52
	5.4. Health Professionals' Vaccination and Recommendation Behaviors	54
	5.5. Limitations	56
	5.6. Conclusions	58
	5.7. Practical Implications and Recommendations for Future Research	59
R	eferences	62
0	riginal publications	75

List of original publications

- Soveri, A., Karlsson, L. C., Mäki, O., Antfolk, J., Waris, O., Karlsson, H., Karlsson, L., Lindfelt, M. & Lewandowsky, L. (2020). Trait reactance and trust in doctors as predictors of vaccination behavior, vaccine attitudes, and use of complementary and alternative medicine in parents of young children. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(7). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236527
- II. Karlsson, L. C., Soveri, A., Lewandowsky, S., Karlsson, L., Karlsson, H., Nolvi, S., Karukivi, M., Lindfelt, M. & Antfolk, J. (2022). The behavioral immune system and vaccination intentions during the coronavirus pandemic. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 185. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021.111295
- III. Karlsson, L. C., Soveri, A., Lewandowsky, S., Karlsson, L., Karlsson, H., Nolvi, S., Karukivi, M., Lindfelt, M. & Antfolk, J. (2021). Fearing the disease or the vaccine: The case of COVID-19. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 172. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110590
- IV. Karlsson, L. C., Lewandowsky, S., Antfolk, J., Salo, P., Lindfelt, M., Oksanen, T., Kivimäki, M. & Soveri, A. (2019). The association between vaccination confidence, vaccination behavior, and willingness to recommend vaccines among Finnish healthcare workers. *PLoS ONE*, 14(10). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224330

Abstract

High vaccine uptake is important to limit the spread of infectious diseases. Knowing what factors are related to vaccination decisions can help health authorities communicate effectively with the public about vaccines. In the studies included in the present thesis, we investigated psychological factors associated with vaccine acceptance by surveying the general population (Studies I–III) and health professionals (Study IV) in Finland. We focused on childhood vaccines, influenza vaccines, and a hypothetical COVID-19 vaccine (no COVID-19 vaccine was available at the time of data collection).

Although many previous studies have investigated the extent to which vaccine attitudes are related to vaccination decisions, fewer studies have addressed factors that motivate people to hold negative vaccine attitudes and reject vaccines. We examined whether nonconformist identity (Study I) and psychological disease-avoidance mechanisms (Study II) are related to vaccine attitudes and vaccination decisions. In Study I, we found that individuals who reported higher nonconformist tendencies held more negative vaccine attitudes. The relationship between nonconformist identity and vaccine refusal was, however, very small. This suggests that some individuals might hold negative vaccine attitudes to express a nonconformist identity, but that many of these individuals still decide to get vaccinated. In Study II, we found that individuals who reported more aversive reactions to potential pathogen transmission (germ aversion) during the COVID-19 pandemic were more willing to get vaccinated and perceived vaccines as safer, than those less germ aversive. This contradicts research conducted before the pandemic suggesting that germ-aversive individuals have more negative vaccine attitudes, possibly because they are more likely to consider vaccines as potential contaminants. We speculate that this contradiction is due to germ-aversive individuals responding more strongly to the pandemic, making them more motivated to protect themselves against disease.

A frequently mentioned explanation for why some individuals reject vaccines is that the diseases the vaccines prevent against are not prevalent in the environment and therefore not perceived to pose a threat. The COVID-19 pandemic offered an opportunity to investigate people's willingness to get vaccinated during an immediate disease threat. In Study III, we studied how perceived disease risk, objective disease risk, and perceived vaccine safety was associated with people's willingness to get vaccinated against COVID-19 during the early phase of the pandemic. We found that those who perceived the disease as potentially severe for other people were slightly more willing to be vaccinated. That people perceived a prospective COVID-19 vaccine to be safe was the strongest predictor of their willingness to take the vaccine. Study III thus suggested that vaccine-safety concerns make individuals less willing to take vaccines also during considerable disease threat.

Receiving a vaccine recommendation from a health professional has been reported by laypeople as the main reason for taking vaccines. In Study IV, we investigated health professionals' willingness to recommend vaccines to patients. Although most health professionals held positive vaccine attitudes, a non-negligible proportion questioned the benefits and safety of vaccines. Worryingly, these health professionals were less willing to guide their patients towards getting vaccinated. Because health professionals with higher education had more positive vaccine attitudes, we speculate that more vaccine-related training might increase health professionals' confidence in vaccines and their willingness to recommend vaccines to patients.

Based on the strong relationship between perceived vaccine safety and willingness to get vaccinated, the findings presented in the current thesis suggest that health authorities should focus on vaccine safety in their communication with the public—even during times of immediate disease threat. Public communication might be more effective if authorities consider the different motives individuals have for holding certain vaccine attitudes. For example, messages could be formulated to minimize the risk of evoking opposition in nonconformist individuals. Nevertheless, experimental studies are needed to investigate how effective different messages are depending on the motive of the individual. The current findings also highlight the importance of continued research on health professionals' vaccine attitudes.

Sammanfattning

För att lyckas stoppa spridningen av sjukdomar som går att förebygga med vaccin, är det viktigt att så många människor som möjligt vaccinerar sig. Kunskap om vad som påverkar människors vaccinationsbeslut hjälper hälsovårdsmyndigheter att effektivt kommunicera med allmänheten om vaccin. I studierna som ingår i föreliggande avhandling undersökte vi psykologiska faktorer relaterade till vaccinationsbeslut genom att utföra enkätundersökningar i normalbefolkningen (Studie I–III) och bland hälsovårdspersonal (Studie IV) i Finland. Vi fokuserade på barnvaccin, influensavaccin, och ett hypotetiskt covid-19-vaccin (inget vaccin mot covid-19 fanns tillgängligt då undersökningarna utfördes).

Många tidigare studier har undersökt människors attityder till vaccin samt i vilken mån dessa attityder är kopplade till ifall människor beslutar att vaccinera sig eller inte. Få studier har dock undersökt möjliga faktorer som motiverar människor att ha negativa attityder till vaccin och neka vaccinering. Vi undersökte ifall en del människor uttrycker negativa attityder till vaccin för att kommunicera en icke-konformistisk identitet (Studie I), samt ifall attityder till vaccin och vilja att vaccinera sig hänger ihop med sådana psykologiska mekanismer som antas ha utvecklats för att de får människor att undvika sjukdom (Studie II). Resultaten från Studie I tydde på att personer som rapporterade större icke-konformistiska tendenser hade mer negativa attityder till vaccin. Sambandet mellan icke-konformism och tidigare vaccinationsbeslut var dock litet. Detta kan tolkas som att en del personer uttrycker negativa attityder till vaccin för att kommunicera en icke-konformistisk identitet, men att många av dessa personer trots allt beslutar sig för att ta vaccin. I Studie II fann vi att personer som rapporterade större benägenhet att under covid-19-pandemin reagera med aversion på potentiell smitta och kontamination, var mer villiga att vaccinera sig och ansåg i större utsträckning att vaccin är trygga att ta, än de med mindre sådan benägenhet. Dessa resultat står i konflikt med studier utförda innan pandemin, som tytt på att människor med större aversionsbenägenhet har mer negativa attityder till vaccin, möjligtvis på grund av att de är mer benägna att uppleva vaccin som potentiellt kontaminerande. En möjlig förklaring till skillnaden mellan föreliggande och tidigare resultat är att aversionsbenägna personer reagerar starkare på pandemin och att de således är mer motiverade att skydda sig mot sjukdom.

Att många sjukdomar som går att förebygga med vaccin inte är prevalenta i människors omgivning, och således inte upplevs som hot, nämns ofta som en orsak till att människor nekar vaccin. Covid-19 pandemin erbjöd möjligheten att undersöka människors vilja att vaccinera sig när sjukdomshotet är större. I Studie III undersökte vi hur stort hot människor upplevde att covid-19 utgör, hur stor tillit människor hade till att ett framtida covid-19 vaccin är tryggt att ta, samt ifall upplevt hot och tillit till vaccinets trygghet predicerade människors vilja att vaccinera sig mot covid-19. De som ansåg att covid-19 är en farlig sjukdom för andra människor var något mer villiga att vaccinera sig. Tillit till att vaccinet är tryggt att ta uppvisade dock det starkaste sambandet med vilja att vaccinera sig. Resultaten tydde således på att oro över att vaccin inte är trygga att ta kan få människor att inte vilja vaccinera sig, även under större sjukdomshot.

På frågan om varför man beslutat att vaccinera sig, svarar människor ofta att de rekommenderats av hälsovårdspersonal att ta vaccin. I Studie IV undersökte vi hälsovårdspersonals villighet att rekommendera vaccin till sina patienter. Trots att en övervägande majoritet av hälsovårdspersonalen hade positiva attityder till vaccin, tvivlade en icke-försumbar andel på att vaccin är nyttiga och trygga att ta. Jämfört med hälsovårdspersonal med positiva attityder till vaccin, var de med mindre positiva attityder oroväckande nog mindre villiga att handleda sina patienter till att vaccinera sig. Eftersom hälsovårdspersonal med högre utbildning hade mer positiva attityder till vaccin, och vilja att rekommendera vaccin, hos hälsovårdspersonal.

Eftersom tilliten till att vaccinet är tryggt att ta uppvisade det starkaste sambandet med vilja att vaccinera sig, tydde resultaten av föreliggande avhandling på att hälsovårdsmyndigheter behöver fokusera på vaccinens trygghet i sin kommunikation med allmänheten—även i tider då sjukdomen är mer framträdande i samhället och utgör ett större hot. Det är möjligt att kommunikation gällande vaccin är mer effektiv ifall man beaktar de bakomliggande motiven för människors attityder till vaccin. Till exempel kan information formuleras på ett sätt som minskar risken för att den väcker motstånd hos människor med icke-konformistisk identitet. Hur effektiv olika sorters kommunikation är beroende på individens bakomliggande motiv behöver dock undersökas i experimentella studier. Föreliggande resultat understryker även vikten av att vidare undersöka hälsovårdspersonals attityder till vaccin.

1. Introduction

Vaccination is considered one of the greatest public health achievements. Since the introduction of vaccines, the prevalence of many dangerous infectious diseases has drastically decreased. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that vaccinations prevent 2-3 million deaths each year (WHO, 2021). In addition to protecting the vaccinated individual from disease, most vaccines also provide indirect protection to unvaccinated individuals by limiting disease transmission (Fine et al., 2011; Metcalf et al., 2015). This makes vaccination an important tool for reducing the burden of infectious diseases on society. In spite of this, some individuals are unsure about whether to accept vaccines for themselves and their children, and some decide to reject vaccines altogether (Brewer et al., 2017; Dubé et al., 2013). This phenomenon, often referred to as vaccine hesitancy, undermines the population-level protection of vaccinations and increases the risk of disease outbreaks (Omer et al., 2008; Phadke et al., 2016). Considering the serious consequences of insufficient population-level protection against diseases, WHO recently listed vaccine hesitancy as one of the top ten threats to global health (WHO, 2019). As public acceptance of vaccines is critical for vaccination programs to be successful, understanding the psychology behind vaccination decisions is of paramount importance. Knowing what affects these decisions helps health professionals and authorities to communicate effectively with the public to maintain protection against currently controlled diseases, intervene if the level of protection drops, and achieve sufficient protection against novel diseases. Given the current pandemic caused by the coronavirus SARS-CoV-2, public vaccine acceptance is a pressing concern and will play a pivotal role in how the pandemic advances.

In the present thesis, I investigated psychological correlates of vaccine acceptance among the general public and health professionals in Finland. I focused on childhood vaccines (i.e., vaccines administered to children before the age of 6), seasonal influenza vaccines, and COVID-19 vaccines. Childhood vaccinations are voluntary in Finland and the vaccines are administered free of charge in accordance with the national vaccination program (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021h). Almost all childhood vaccines are administered at child health clinics by a public health nurse in connection with scheduled health checks (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, 2021). Influenza vaccines are administered free of the of the scheduled free scheduled free of the scheduled free s

charge to risk groups (including children under the age of 7 years and individuals aged 65 years or older) and health professionals (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021g). Some employers also provide their employees free influenza vaccination. In other cases, individuals will have to pay for the influenza vaccines. Since March 2017, the Communicable Diseases Act 48§2 requires health professionals working with risk populations to get vaccinated against influenza every year (Communicable Diseases Act, 2016). Vaccinations against COVID-19 started in Finland during the last week of 2020. The vaccines were initially administered to health professionals working with COVID-19 patients, followed by older individuals and risk groups. At the time of this writing, COVID-19 vaccines are recommended for all individuals over the age of 12 years. COVID-19 vaccination is voluntary and free of charge for everyone (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021a, 2021e).

1.1. Terminology

In the research literature on vaccination decisions, vaccine acceptance commonly refers to the behavior to take vaccines, whereas not taking vaccines is called vaccine rejection or vaccine refusal. The term "vaccine hesitancy" emerged to de-polarize the previous categorization of individuals as either pro- or anti-vaccination (Larson et al., 2014). The specific definition and use of the term has, however, been debated (Dudley et al., 2020). Vaccine hesitancy has been used to describe both behaviors (e.g., postponing or refusing vaccination) and attitudes (e.g., beliefs regarding the benefit and safety of vaccines; Bedford et al., 2018; Dudley et al., 2020; Peretti-Watel et al., 2015). The most cited definition of vaccine hesitancy is the one developed by the WHO SAGE vaccine-hesitancy working group. The working group defined vaccine hesitancy as a "delay in acceptance or refusal of vaccination despite availability of vaccination services" (MacDonald & the SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy, 2015, p. 4163). This definition has been criticized for not recognizing that individuals who refuse vaccines might do so without hesitation, whereas those who take vaccines might hesitate in their decisions (Bedford et al., 2018; Salmon et al., 2015). The working group also mentioned the accessibility and affordability of vaccination services among the factors that affect vaccine hesitancy. Hence, the definition does not make a clear differentiation between unwillingness among the public to get vaccinated although vaccines are available to them and failure by health services to provide easy access to vaccination (Bedford et al., 2018).

Because the term vaccine hesitancy does not allow for a differentiation between attitudes and behaviors, I have chosen not to use the term in the following sections. Instead, *vaccination behavior* will be used for actions such as taking, postponing, or not taking vaccines, and *vaccination intentions* will refer to an individual's willingness to get vaccinated in the future. The term *vaccine attitudes* will be used for individuals' beliefs about the benefits and safety of vaccines. *Vaccine uptake* refers to the proportion of vaccinated individuals in a given population.

1.2. Vaccine Uptake and Herd Immunity

In Finland, the uptake of most vaccines included in the national vaccination program is high (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021j). For example, 95.8% of children born in 2017 have received the first dose of the MMR vaccine, which protects against measles, mumps, and rubella. Measles is a very infectious disease, and a vaccination rate of around 95% is required to achieve herd immunity. Herd immunity means that a sufficiently large number of individuals in a population is immune towards a certain disease, indirectly protecting those who are not (Fine et al., 2011; Metcalf et al., 2015). Although nation-level estimates of vaccine uptake are important indicators of the general vaccination status in a country, regional estimates are more important from a practical perspective. Regions where fewer individuals are vaccinated, also known as *pockets* in the vaccination coverage, are at higher risk for disease outbreaks.

Whereas some individuals are unvaccinated due to medical contraindications, low vaccine uptake also results from vaccine refusal or inaction. Complete vaccine refusal is rare; about 1–2% of parents in highincome countries refuse all vaccines for their children (Brewer et al., 2017). In Finland, 1% of children have not received any vaccines by the age of 3 (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021i). More common than refusing all vaccines is that parents refuse some vaccines while accepting others. Studies conducted in the US indicate that 6–25% of parents have rejected at least one vaccine for their children (Brewer et al., 2017). Some parents also postpone vaccinations, meaning that they have their children vaccinated at older ages than recommended. In contrast to vaccines included in the national vaccination program, remaining unvaccinated is much more frequent when it comes to vaccines that require individuals to actively seek out vaccination, such as the vaccines against seasonal influenza. For example, during the 2018–2019 influenza season, 50% of individuals in Finland who belonged to a risk group due to old age remained unvaccinated against influenza (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021f).

Vaccination rates are informative for evaluating how well a population is protected against a disease. Nevertheless, such rates do not provide information about how many individuals are unsure in their vaccination decisions. Unsure individuals might be at a higher risk of choosing not to be vaccinated in the future. To be able to prevent drops in vaccine uptake, it is important to identify the prevalence of uncertainty in vaccination decisions as well as factors that are associated with whether individuals decide to be vaccinated or not.

1.3. Attitudes as Correlates of Vaccination Behaviors

Research seeking to describe the most important aspects of vaccination decisions has been inspired by theories of health-related behavior, such as the health-belief model (Carpenter, 2010; Rosenstock, 1966) and the theory of planned behavior (Ajzen, 1991). According to these theories, health behaviors result from weighing the consequences of different behaviors against each other, taking into account facilitators of and barriers to the behaviors. Put simply, these theories imply that individuals will engage in behaviors that promote health when they perceive that the benefits of the behaviors outweigh the costs.

Consistent with these theories, studies show that individuals who have positive attitudes to the benefits and safety of vaccines are more likely to accept vaccination (Betsch et al., 2018; Thomson et al., 2016). According to systematic literature reviews, concerns about vaccine safety is the most reported reason for why parents refuse vaccines for their children (Karafillakis & Larson, 2017; L. E. Smith et al., 2017). When it comes to influenza vaccines, both vaccine safety concerns and a lack of confidence in vaccine effectiveness are frequently mentioned reasons for refusing vaccination (Karafillakis & Larson, 2017; Schmid et al., 2017; Yeung et al., 2016). Furthermore, individuals who perceive that the vaccine-preventable disease poses a large risk are expected to find the benefits of vaccination to be greater. On the contrary, an individual who does not perceive that the disease poses a risk might find the risks of vaccination to outweigh the benefits (Dubé et al., 2013; Karafillakis & Larson, 2017; MacDonald & the SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy, 2015). Research shows that individuals who perceive the likelihood of contracting the vaccine-preventable disease as low, who do not perceive the disease as severe, or who do not worry about the disease, are less likely to accept vaccination (Betsch et al., 2018; Bish et al., 2011; Brewer et al., 2007; Schmid et al., 2017; Thomson et al., 2016).

Because of the relationship between vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors, attempts to increase vaccine uptake often include educational interventions aiming to increase vaccination-related knowledge (Sadaf et al., 2013). These interventions rest on the assumption that negative vaccine attitudes and vaccine concerns result from a lack of information or from being misinformed. Misinformation about vaccines spreads fast on online social forums and in news media, and anti-vaccination websites are easily encountered when looking for information on vaccines. These websites often portray vaccines as dangerous, ineffective, and causing illness (Kata, 2010; Moran et al., 2016). The effectiveness of educational interventions in changing vaccine attitudes and increasing willingness to accept vaccines has not received clear support in systematic literature reviews (for a review of reviews, see, Dubé et al., 2015). This is in line with the general literature on misinformation, which suggests misbeliefs are fairly resistant to correction and even when a false belief is successfully corrected, it does not affect people's attitudes and behaviors (Lewandowsky et al., 2012; Lewandowsky & van der Linden, 2021). Instead of changing attitudes along with evidence, individuals often interpret evidence to support their attitudes, search for information that confirms their already held beliefs, and reject information that does not (Douglas et al., 2019; Lewandowsky & Cook, 2020). This is because reasoning is affected by the conclusions one is motivated to arrive at (Kunda, 1990). Attitudes that conflict with scientific evidence can thus be a consequence of the individual being motivated to sustain such attitudes, rather than result from lack of accurate information (Hornsey & Fielding, 2017). From this perspective, merely trying to correct factual misbeliefs is unlikely to have any wider effect on people's attitudes and behaviors. Considering factors that motivate people to hold negative vaccine attitudes and reject vaccination can benefit health professionals and authorities when they communicate with the public about vaccination.

1.4. Motives for Holding Negative Vaccine Attitudes and Refusing Vaccines

Although many previous studies have investigated the extent to which vaccine attitudes are related to vaccination decisions, fewer studies have addressed the motives people have for holding certain vaccine attitudes and refusing vaccines. Individuals might be motivated to sustain antiscience attitudes for a variety of reasons, such as ideology, worldview, conspiratorial thinking, vested interests, personal identity expression, or fears (Hornsey & Fielding, 2017). In the present thesis, I investigated the role of two potential motives for negative vaccine attitudes and vaccine rejection: nonconformist identity and fear of disease due to evolved disease-avoidance mechanisms.

1.4.1. Nonconformist Identity

Anti-science attitudes have been proposed to serve as a mean through which individuals express their personal identity (Hornsey & Fielding, 2017). This identity can include opposition to general consensus, or "going against the herd" (Browne et al., 2015; Hornsey et al., 2018a; Hornsey & Fielding, 2017). Reacting with opposition when thinking that one's freedom to decide is threatened has been labeled *reactance* (Brehm & Brehm, 1981; Rosenberg & Siegel, 2018). Hypothetically, if holding negative vaccine attitudes and rejecting vaccines are ways for some individuals to express a nonconformist identity, then individuals who are more reactant should be more likely to oppose vaccination. Indeed, in a study conducted in 24 nations, Hornsey et al. (2018a) found that more reactant individuals were more likely to report that they perceive vaccines as unsafe and ineffective.

Possibly, negative vaccine attitudes among reactant individuals are a consequence of a broader opposition towards medical authorities and conventional, evidence-based medicine. As the term suggests, conventional medicine includes practices that conform to the dominant perspective on health, which might trigger opposition in reactant individuals. Practices outside this perspective have been labeled complementary and alternative medicine (CAM). CAM treatments are often described by their users as safer and more 'natural' than conventional treatments (Attwell et al., 2018). Research indicates that individuals who have less positive vaccine attitudes and who reject vaccines also have more positive CAM attitudes and more likely use CAMs (Browne et al., 2015; Bryden et al., 2018; Hornsey et al.,

2020; Lewandowsky, Woike, et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2016). There is also evidence that the fact that individuals both hold negative vaccine attitudes and use CAMs can be explained by a general distrust in conventional medicine (Hornsey et al., 2020). Whether this preference of CAM over conventional medicine is for some individuals a way to express a nonconformist identity has hitherto not been studied. Furthermore, previous research has not investigated whether individuals who express negative vaccine attitudes as part of a nonconformist identity also refuse vaccines, or whether the need to oppose is satisfied by the expression of negative attitudes.

Studying the role of reactance in vaccination decisions is important for the development of effective health-communication strategies. If reactance is a motive behind negative vaccine attitudes, educational interventions by health authorities might be ineffective or even backfire and result in even stronger negative vaccine attitudes (Lewandowsky et al., 2012; Nyhan et al., 2014).

1.4.2. Evolved Disease-Avoidance Mechanisms

Although safety concerns are among the most common reasons for vaccine rejection, few studies have investigated why some individuals are more inclined to perceive vaccines as unsafe than others. One possible explanation can be found in the psychological and behavioral mechanisms believed to have evolved because they decrease the risk of disease. These mechanisms have been labeled *the behavioral immune system* (Schaller, 2006; Schaller & Park, 2011). Whereas the physiological immune system has evolved because fighting off infection has increased survival and the relative likelihood that genes underlying this effective immune system has evolved because it decreases the risk of becoming infected in the first place.

The behavioral immune system makes individuals react with aversion to potential sources of pathogens. This aversion, commonly experienced through the emotion disgust, causes individuals to avoid contact with the sources, and they thereby avoid becoming infected. Most pathogens, such as viruses and bacteria, are not visible. As a consequence, the system responds to contamination cues. Contamination cues are sources or stimuli that in our evolutionary past have been associated with a higher risk of pathogens, such as spoiled food, the smell of biological decay, bodily secretions (e.g., saliva, nasal secretion, mucus), as well as wounds and deformations (e.g., Oaten et al., 2009). These cues are not perfect indicators of whether pathogens are present or not, and the system will sometimes respond to sources that contain no pathogens and sometimes fail to respond although pathogens are present. In the latter case the individual risks falling ill, and not reacting is thus likely to have more negative consequences than being overly avoidant of potential contamination cues. The behavioral immune system is, therefore, believed to have evolved to be hypersensitive and respond to cues that *might* indicate the presence of pathogens (Ackerman et al., 2018; Schaller & Park, 2011). This can make individuals respond to unspoiled food that smells like spoiled food (e.g., fermented fish, aged cheese) or avoid social contact with individuals who have deformities that are not contagious. Avoiding sources also comes with costs, and an individual must balance between the costs (e.g., potentially missing an opportunity to get nutrition) and the benefits (e.g., potentially escaping illness) of avoidance. For individuals who are particularly vulnerable to infections, failing to avoid contamination is more costly. The behavioral immune system is, therefore, assumed to be flexible to situational differences in disease threat and individual differences in vulnerability.

The behavioral immune system has been found to be associated with a wide range of attitudes and behaviors humans display. Because vaccines protect against infectious diseases, individuals with higher propensity to be disgusted by potential sources of pathogens (hereafter, disgust sensitivity) and to react negatively to potential pathogen transmission (hereafter, germ aversion) could be expected to hold more positive vaccine attitudes. Paradoxically, several studies indicate the opposite. Individuals with higher disgust sensitivity and more germ aversion have been found to have more negative vaccine attitudes (Clay, 2017; Clifford & Wendell, 2016; Kempthorne & Terrizzi, 2021; Luz et al., 2019; Reuben et al., 2020), and be slightly *less* likely to have accepted vaccination (Luz et al., 2019). In an attempt to explain these surprising findings, Clay (2017) pointed out that vaccines are administered in ways that in and by themselves serve as contamination cues, such as puncturing the skin, and inhalation or ingestion of a foreign substance. Individuals who are more averse to pathogens and contamination are thus hypothesized to react to vaccination as a contamination cue and, as a consequence, develop more negative vaccine attitudes. In support of this, individuals more easily disgusted by needles and blood have been found to hold more negative attitudes to the safety and efficacy of vaccines (Hornsey et al., 2018a).

As mentioned above, the behavioral immune system is hypothesized to be flexible, and individuals are expected to react more strongly when they feel more vulnerable and when disease threat is higher (Ackerman et al., 2018; Oaten et al., 2009). In line with this, research indicates that individuals who perceive themselves as more susceptible to disease are more likely to accept vaccines (Luz et al., 2019). If disgust-sensitive individuals are less willing to get vaccinated also during increased disease threat has not been investigated prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Whether the abovementioned relationships hold true under higher disease threat is informative for health authorities aiming to communicate effectively about vaccines during the pandemic. For example, accompanying vaccine information with pictures of needles and injections might cause an aversive reaction in individuals with high germ aversion.

1.5. The COVID-19 Pandemic

Situational factors, such as sudden disease outbreaks, might affect vaccine attitudes and willingness to accept vaccines. The outbreak of COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the WHO on March 11th, 2020 (WHO, 2020). Less than a year later, researchers had developed safe and effective vaccines against COVID-19 (Baden et al., 2021; Polack et al., 2020), and vaccination campaigns had been launched around the world. Health authorities now face the challenge to achieve and maintain high uptake of the vaccines.

A frequently mentioned reason for why individuals in developed countries hold negative vaccine attitudes and choose not to get vaccinated is that many of the vaccine-preventable diseases are not prevalent in these individuals' environment, and that they therefore do not consider the diseases as threatening. Because the low prevalence of the diseases to a great extent is the result of successful vaccinations programs, vaccines have been described as victims of their own success (Dubé et al., 2013; Larson et al., 2011; Miton & Mercier, 2015; Salmon et al., 2015). From this reasoning follows that sudden disease outbreaks should result in higher willingness to get vaccinated because the disease threat becomes more salient, but evidence for this is scarce. Some studies indicate that media attention given to regional outbreaks of measles or to severe influenza seasons is associated with subsequent increases in rates of measles and influenza vaccination (Arendt & Scherr, 2020; Ma et al., 2006). Presumably, when disease threat is high, individuals are more likely to decide to be vaccinated despite vaccine concerns. The fact that disease outbreaks occur does, nevertheless, not necessarily mean that individuals perceive the disease to pose a threat. During the pandemic caused by the H1N1 influenza (swine flu) in 2009–2010, uptake of the vaccines against the influenza was suboptimal in most countries (Bish et al., 2011; Brien et al., 2012; Bults et al., 2015). This has been partly ascribed to the fact that many considered the swine flu a mild disease with low risk for infection. Information on how much risk individuals perceive COVID-19 to pose, whether they trust that the vaccines are safe, and if these factors are related to vaccination intentions, can aid health authorities to communicate effectively with the public about the COVID-19 vaccines.

1.6. The Role of Health Professionals

In contrast to the general public, health professionals are expected to have evidence-based knowledge on vaccines. Health professionals play a key role in maintaining and increasing vaccine uptake as they communicate directly with individuals about their vaccination decisions and can inform them about vaccines (Dubé et al., 2013). The majority of individuals perceive health professionals to be the most reliable source of vaccine information (Charron et al., 2020; Danchin et al., 2018; Eller et al., 2019; Napolitano, D'Alessandro, et al., 2018; O'Leary et al., 2018). When asking individuals about their vaccination decisions, a recommendation by a health professional is the most frequently reported reason for vaccine acceptance, whereas the lack of such a recommendation is mentioned as a reason for not accepting vaccines (Napolitano et al., 2017; Napolitano, D'Alessandro, et al., 2017; Song et al., 2017).

Because of the influence health professionals have on laypeople's vaccination decisions, it is worrying that studies show that some health professionals have negative vaccine attitudes and that these health professionals are less willing to recommend vaccines to patients (Collange et al., 2019; Morales et al., 2020; Napolitano, Navaro, et al., 2018; Paterson et al., 2016). Health professionals with negative vaccine attitudes have also been found less likely to accept vaccines for themselves (Dini et al., 2018; Wilson et al., 2020), which also puts their patients at a higher risk of some infectious diseases. Furthermore, some health professionals lack trust in the health system, even though they are a part of it themselves (Filia et al., 2019; Karafillakis et al., 2016). How this affects their willingness to take and recommend vaccines has rarely been studied (Larson et al., 2018), but there is some evidence that lack of trust in official vaccine recommendations and scientific vaccine information is related to a lower willingness in health professionals to accept and recommend vaccines (Collange et al., 2019; Učakar & Kraigher, 2019).

Because of the central role health professionals have in informing about vaccines, it is important to map their vaccine attitudes. If health professionals with more negative vaccine attitudes are reluctant to recommend vaccines to patients, their attitudes might affect public vaccine uptake.

2. Aims and Expected Results

The overarching aim of the present thesis was to investigate psychological correlates of vaccination behaviors and intentions in the general public and health professionals in Finland. The thesis contributes to the literature on vaccination decisions in three main ways. First, previous research has largely focused on vaccine attitudes and how attitudes are related to whether individuals take vaccines or not. Fewer studies have focused on potential explanations for why people hold certain vaccine attitudes. We studied potential motives for holding negative vaccine attitudes, and the extent to which these motives are related to whether individuals accept vaccines or not. The second contribution is that we investigated correlates of intentions to accept a vaccine against COVID-19. Such information is of immediate interest for health authorities aiming at achieving high uptake of the novel COVID-19 vaccines. Also, the COVID-19 pandemic provides the opportunity to study vaccination intentions during increased disease threat. Most previous research on vaccination behavior is conducted in environments where vaccine-preventable diseases are controlled or not perceived to pose a large threat. Lastly, psychological correlates of vaccination decisions have rarely been studied in Finland, and, to the best of my knowledge, there is no previous study that has systematically investigated and reported on how common it is that Finnish parents hesitate in their vaccination decisions. Country-specific information about vaccination decisions is important because of cultural differences between nations and differences in vaccination practices (Dubé et al., 2014; MacDonald & the SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy, 2015). The thesis includes four studies. Table 1 provides an overview of the studies. The aims related to each study are described below.

In **Study I**, we investigated reactance as a motive for negative vaccine attitudes and vaccine rejection. Reactant individuals have been found to have more negative vaccine attitudes (Hornsey et al., 2018b), suggesting that negative vaccine attitudes can be motivated by a need to express a non-conformist identity. Our first aim with Study I was to investigate whether such a need also manifests itself as actual behavior (i.e., vaccine refusal). We expected that reactant individuals are more likely to have postponed or rejected vaccinations. Our second aim was to investigate whether negative vaccine attitudes are part of a broader opposition to conventional medicine. We expected that a potential relationship between reactance and vaccine

attitudes and behaviors can be explained by reactant individuals having lower trust in medical doctors. We also expected that high reactance and a distrust in doctors explain associations between use of CAM and negative vaccine attitudes or vaccine rejection.

Study II was conducted during the first spring of the COVID-19 pandemic¹ (in 2020) and investigated the mechanisms of the behavioral immune system as motives behind vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors. This has previously been investigated only during normal disease-threat circumstances, and the behavioral immune system is believed to be sensitive to level of disease threat. Our aim with Study II was to investigate whether germ aversion and perceived infectability predict perceived vaccine safety and intentions to accept COVID-19 and influenza vaccines. Based on previous findings, we expected that individuals with more germ aversion have lower vaccination intentions and perceive vaccines as less safe. We also expected that individuals with high perceived infectibility have higher vaccination intentions.

Study III was also conducted during the pandemic spring of 2020. Our aim with Study III was to investigate the role of disease-risk perceptions, objective disease risk, and perceived vaccine safety in predicting intentions to get vaccinated against COVID-19—a disease likely perceived to pose a larger threat than vaccine-preventable diseases examined in previous research. We compared the perceptions of COVID-19 to those of influenza and measles and expected that COVID-19 is perceived to pose a larger risk. We expected that those who perceive the risk of COVID-19 as higher, who have a higher objective disease risk, and who report greater trust in the safety of a prospective COVID-19.

Our first aim with **Study IV** was to examine Finnish health professionals' vaccine attitudes and trust in the intentions and competence of their colleagues. Our second aim was to investigate whether vaccine attitudes and trust is related to the health professionals' own vaccination behavior and to

¹ The peak of the first pandemic wave in Finland was observed in the beginning of April, 2020, when the weekly incidence of COVID-19 cases was ~16 per 100,000 inhabitants (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021b). Measures put in place by the Finnish government at that time included closing of schools and limiting public gatherings to a maximum number of 10 individuals (Finnish Government, 2020a). Unnecessary travel to and from Uusimaa—the region with the most rapid increase in COVID-19 incidence—was prohibited between March 25th and April 19th, 2020 (Finnish Government, 2020b). After this, the weekly incidence decreased, reaching ~3 COVID-19 cases per 100,000 inhabitants by the beginning of June. The incidence was low during the summer but started to increase again during the autumn.

their willingness to recommend vaccines to patients who are unsure about vaccination. We expected that health professionals who perceive vaccines as less beneficial and less safe, and who have less trust in their fellow health professionals, are more likely to have hesitated, postponed, or rejected vaccination for their children, are more likely to have rejected the influenza vaccine for themselves, and are less likely to recommend childhood and influenza vaccines to unsure patients.

Table 1 Overview of Studies

Study	Population	Vaccines	Main predictors	Outcome measures
Ι	General public	Influenza vaccine, childhood vaccines	Nonconformist identity	Vaccination behavior, vaccine attitudes, CAM use
II	General public	COVID-19 vaccine, influenza vaccine	Evolved disease-avoidance mechanisms	Vaccination intentions, perceived vaccine safety
III	General public	COVID-19 vaccine	Perceived disease risk, perceived vaccine safety	Vaccination intentions
IV	Health professionals	Influenza vaccine, childhood vaccines	Vaccine attitudes, trust	Vaccination behavior, vaccine-recommendation behavior

Note. Childhood vaccines refer to the vaccines included in the national vaccination program for children 6 years old or younger. CAM = Complementary and alternative medicine.

3. Method

3.1. Respondents

The present thesis is based on survey data collected from three samples from the general public (FinnBrain parents, Pietarsaari residents, and Facebook users) and one sample of health professionals. Below is a brief overview of the samples and data collections. Please see the original studies for more details.

3.1.1. FinnBrain Parents

We recruited parents of young children—a population for which vaccination decisions are of immediate relevance—from the FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study (Karlsson et al., 2018). The FinnBrain project investigates child development and collects longitudinal data from children and their parents in the Turku region and on the Åland Islands. For the purpose of the present thesis, we collected survey data from the parents at two time points. First, in 2018, we invited all parents in the project with at least one child younger than 4.5 years (N = 3401) to an online survey. In total, 770 parents (22.6%) responded and provided informed consent to participate. This was the sample of **Study I**. Second, in the spring of 2020, we invited 5103 parents from the FinnBrain project to participate in an online survey concerning the COVID-19 pandemic. Study II included 294 (5.8%) parents who had responded to relevant questions at both time points. Study III included 825 (16.2%) parents who had responded at the second time point. Ethical approval for both data collections was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Southwest Finland.

3.1.2. Pietarsaari Residents

In the spring of 2020, we invited individuals who live in the Finnish region Pietarsaari to an online survey relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Pietarsaari region has a higher rate of unvaccinated children compared to most other Finnish regions (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021i) and can be considered a vaccination pocket. We invited 335 Pietarsaari residents who had participated in a vaccine-related survey the preceding year and given their consent to being contacted again. In all, 205 (61.2%) individuals replied and are included in **Studies II** and **III**. The data collection was approved by the Board for Research Ethics at Åbo Akademi University.

3.1.3. Facebook Users

In the spring of 2020, we marketed a Facebook post to recruit individuals aged 18 or older and living in Finland to an online survey concerning the COVID-19 pandemic. A total of 1325 individuals filled out the survey and are included in **Studies II** and **III**. The data collection was approved by the Board for Research Ethics at Åbo Akademi University.

3.1.4. Health Professionals

For **Study IV**, we sourced respondents from the Finnish Public Sector study—a large ongoing cohort study among municipal and hospital employees (Virtanen et al., 2011). In 2018, we sent an invitation to an online survey to 8770 hospital personnel in the regions of Forssa, Kanta-Häme, Pietarsaari, Vaasa, and Pirkanmaa. We received 4286 responses (48.9%). In the study, we included only those hospital personnel who might administer or discuss vaccinations, and excluded other health professionals (e.g., psychologists and physiotherapists) and other personnel working at hospitals (e.g., within administration and human resource management). The final sample of Study IV included 2962 health professionals (416 doctors, 263 head nurses, 1834 nurses, and 449 practical nurses). The project received ethical approval from the ethics committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa.

3.2. Measures

All surveys were administered in Finnish or Swedish (the two main official languages of Finland) depending on the preference of the respondent. The respondents were informed that questions relating to childhood vaccines concerned the vaccines included in the national vaccination program for children up to the age of six, that is, the rotavirus vaccine, the chickenpox vaccine, the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV), the DTaP-IPV-Hib ("5-in-1") vaccine, the MMR vaccine, and the DtaP-IPV ("4-in-1") vaccine. Below is a brief overview of the measures used in each study. For more details, please see the original studies.

3.2.1. Study I

The measures of Study I were administered to the FinnBrain parents before the pandemic.

Reactance. We measured trait reactance with the Hong Psychological Reactance Scale (Hong & Page, 1989). The scale includes statements such as "When someone forces me to do something, I feel like doing the opposite", and respondents are asked to indicate whether they agree on a scale from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 5 (*completely agree*).

Trust in health professionals. We presented six statements to measure trust in doctors (e.g., "I trust doctors' ability to make correct diagnoses"). Respondents indicated their agreement on a scale from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 4 (*completely agree*).

Vaccine attitudes. We administered 15 statements on the benefit and safety of vaccines. We developed the statements based on a review of the literature and discussions with experts working in a nursing education program in Finland. The statements concerned childhood vaccines or vaccines in general ("Children need vaccines for diseases that are not common anymore"), and influenza vaccines ("The influenza vaccines are safe"). Respondents answered on a scale from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 4 (*completely agree*).

Vaccination behavior. We asked the respondents about their past childhood and influenza vaccination decisions. For childhood vaccinations, we asked whether they had hesitated in a vaccination decision, whether they had postponed a vaccination, and whether they had rejected a vaccination for their child altogether. For influenza, we asked whether they had taken the influenza vaccine the preceding season (2017–2018). The respondents could answer *yes* or *no* to each question.

CAM use. We measured CAM use by presenting a list of CAM items and asked the respondents to select the ones they had used during the past 12 months to treat an illness or to maintain good health. The list included 18 treatments and substances not included in the national guidelines for evidence-based prevention and treatment of diseases (The Finnish Medical Society Duodecim, 2021). Examples of items include colloidal silver, turmeric, aloe vera, reiki, and homeopathy.

3.2.2. Study II

Study II included the FinnBrain parents, the Pietarsaari residents, and the Facebook users.

Behavioral immune system mechanisms. We used the Perceived Vulnerability to Disease scale (Duncan et al., 2009) to measure behavioral immune system mechanisms. The scale consists of two subscales: one measures germ aversion (e.g., "I prefer to wash my hands pretty soon after shaking someone's hand") and the other perceived infectability (e.g., "I am more likely than the people around me to catch an infectious disease"). Responses are given on a scale from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 7 (*completely agree*). The FinnBrain parents were administered the scale before the pandemic. The Pietarsaari residents and Facebook users were administered the scale during the pandemic.

Perceived vaccine safety. We measured perceived safety of a prospective COVID-19 vaccine ("If a vaccine against COVID-19 became part of the recommended vaccines in Finland, I would trust that it is safe") and the influenza vaccines ("The influenza vaccines are safe"). These questions were administered to the Facebook users only. They answered on a scale from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 5 (*completely agree*).

Vaccination intentions. In all three samples, we measured the respondents' intentions to accept a prospective COVID-19 vaccine (e.g., "How likely do you consider it to be that you would take a vaccine against COVID-19, if such a vaccine was available, free of charge, and recommended to everyone by the authorities?") and influenza vaccination (e.g., "How likely do you consider it to be that you will take the influenza vaccine next season [season 2020-2021]?"). We also asked the Pietarsaari residents and the Facebook users about their willingness to take a test-phase COVID-19 vaccine. Responses were given on a scale from 1 (*very unlikely*) to 5 (*very likely*).

3.2.3. Study III

Study III included the FinnBrain parents, the Pietarsaari residents, and the Facebook users. All measures were administered during the pandemic.

Perceived disease risk. We measured the respondents' perceived risk of COVID-19. The Pietarsaari residents and Facebook user were also asked about the perceived risk of influenza and measles. For each disease, we measured three components of perceived risk: 1) perceived likelihood of infection (e.g., "I think that my likelihood of contracting COVID-19 during

the following 12 months is..."; 1 = virtually non-existent to 7 = virtually 100%), 2) perceived disease severity (e.g., "How severe would it be for your health if you contracted COVID-19?"; 1 = not severe at all to 5 = very severe), and 3) disease-related worry (e.g., "How much do you worry about falling ill with COVID-19?"; 1 = not at all to 5 = very much). For perceived severity and worry, we measured risk related to both oneself (or one's child in case of measles) and to others.

Objective disease risk. We used the respondents' gender and age as proxies for their objective risk of suffering severe COVID-19. COVID-19 has been shown to be more fatal for men (Galbadage et al., 2020; Griffith et al., 2020) and older individuals (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). In the Facebook sample, we also included a measure of the individuals' objective risk of catching COVID-19. During the time of the data collection, the prevalence of COVID-19 was higher in Uusimaa compared to other Finnish regions and unnecessary travel to and from the region was prohibited by the government (Finnish Government, 2020b). We asked the respondents to indicate their region of residence and created a variable coded as 1 if they reported living in Uusimaa, and 0 if they reported living elsewhere.

Perceived vaccine safety. Study III included the measures of perceived vaccine safety described in relation to Study II. In addition, Study III included a measure of the perceived safety of the measles vaccine ("The measles vaccine is safe").

Vaccination intentions. Study III included the measure of intention to take a recommended vaccine against COVID-19 described in relation to Study II.

3.2.4. Study IV

We administered the measures of Study IV to the health professionals before the pandemic.

Vaccine attitudes. Study IV included the measure of vaccine attitudes described in relation to Study I.

Trust in health professionals. We administered four statements to measure the health professionals' trust in the intentions and professional competence of doctors and health professionals in general (e.g., "When healthcare professionals make medical decisions, they have the patients' best interest in mind"). Respondents answered on a scale from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 5 (*completely agree*).

Vaccination behavior. Study IV included the measures of vaccination behaviors described in relation to Study I.

Vaccine-recommendation behavior. We asked the health professionals two questions about whether they guide patients who are unsure about their vaccination decision. One of those questions concerned childhood vaccinations and the other one concerned influenza vaccinations. They could answer that they try to guide the patient towards getting vaccinated, that they do not try to guide the patient in any direction, or that they try to guide the patient towards not getting vaccinated. We administered these questions to those health professionals who reported discussing or administering vaccines to patients on a weekly basis.

3.3. Statistical Analyses

The main statistical method in **Studies I–IV** was regression analysis. Some of the constructs were represented by latent variables in the analyses, in which case we conducted structural regression analyses—a procedure belonging to the SEM family (Kline, 2016). Latent variables are constructs that cannot be directly measured but that are assumed to influence the responses to observed (measured) variables (Brown, 2015; Kline, 2016). Latent variables are estimated based on the correlations between several observed variables. In **Study II**, we combined the results from the regression analyses across samples and vaccines using meta-analysis. In **Study III**, we used one-way repeated measures ANOVAs and paired *t*-tests to compare COVID-19 to influenza and measles.

As the data used in the present thesis were cross-sectional (except for the FinnBrain sample) and nonexperimental, the analyses cannot establish causality between the variables. Nevertheless, the analyses allow us to test whether our data are consistent with causal models.

4. Results

4.1. Study I: Nonconformist Identity as a Motive for Vaccine Attitudes and Vaccination Behaviors

Of the FinnBrain parents, 93% reported that they had accepted all vaccines for their children (Figure 1), whereas 7% reported that they had rejected at least one childhood vaccine. Of the parents that had accepted all vaccines, 21% had hesitated in a vaccination decision and/or postponed a vaccination to a later time point. About half of the parents reported that they had gotten vaccinated against influenza the preceding influenza season.

The great majority of the parents held positive attitudes to childhood vaccines and vaccines in general (Figure 2). On average, 93% agreed with childhood vaccines being beneficial and safe. Negative attitudes to the influenza vaccines were more common, as only 73% on average considered influenza vaccines as beneficial and safe.



Childhood vaccination

Figure 1. Past vaccination behaviors reported by parents of young children. For childhood vaccinations, the bar shows the proportion of parents who had accepted all childhood vaccines (blue) or rejected at least one (red). For influenza vaccination, the bar shows the percentage of parents who had been vaccinated against influenza the preceding influenza season (blue) and the percentage of those who had not (red).





Figure 2. Vaccine attitudes among parents of young children. Note that for reverse-scored items (marked with R), stronger agreement means more negative vaccine attitudes.
To investigate whether reactance is related to vaccine attitudes and behaviors, and whether this relationship can be explained by trust in doctors, we conducted two analyses: one with vaccine attitudes as outcomes and one with vaccination behaviors as outcomes. The latter also included CAM use as an outcome. Figure 3 displays the results from these analyses, excluding paths between variables that showed no relationship.

Respondents who reported more reactance had more negative attitudes to childhood and influenza vaccines (Panel A in Figure 3). This could to a large part be explained by their lower trust in doctors, as the indirect associations between reactance and vaccine attitudes (β = -.16, SE = .03, p < .001 and β = -.15, SE = .03, p < .001 for childhood and influenza vaccine attitudes, respectively) were somewhat larger than the direct associations. Respondents with higher reactance were also more likely to have postponed or rejected childhood vaccines and to not having taken the influenza vaccine, and they were more likely to use several forms of CAM (Panel B in Figure 3). For childhood vaccination behavior and CAM use, the associations were completely indirect and mediated by trust in doctors (β = .15, *SE* = .03, p < .001 and β = .08, SE = .02, p < .001 for childhood vaccination behavior and CAM use, respectively). This means that these behaviors are only related to reactance to the degree that those who are more reactant trust doctors less. In contrast, most of the association between reactance and influenza vaccination was direct, as the indirect association was very small ($\beta = .06, SE = .02, p = .006$). Taken together, the results indicated that individuals who report high reactance are more likely to hold negative vaccine attitudes and postpone or reject vaccination. This could partly be explained by the fact that reactant individuals trust doctors less.

Lastly, CAM use was only weakly correlated with vaccine attitudes (r = -.24 and -.22, for childhood and influenza vaccines, respectively) and vaccination behaviors (r = .19 and .12). These correlations could only to a small part be explained by reactance and trust, and the uncertainty in the estimates was large.



Figure 3. Results from the analyses on reactance. One model included vaccine attitudes as outcomes (Panel A), and one vaccination behavior and CAM use as outcomes (Panel B). Latent variables are represented by circles and observed variables by squares. Regressions between latent variables are standardized beta coefficients. Regressions relating to observed variables are standardized probit coefficients as observed variables were specified as ordinal. Correlations between outcomes are not shown in the figure. Higher scores indicate more reactance, greater trust, more positive vaccine attitudes, having postponed or rejected childhood vaccination, having rejected influenza vaccination, and using more forms of CAM.

4.2. Study II: Evolved Disease-Avoidance Mechanisms as Motives for Perceived Vaccine Safety and Vaccination Intentions

About ³⁄₄ of the FinnBrain parents, the Pietarsaari residents, and the Facebook users reported high intentions (i.e., chose the response alternatives 4 or 5 on the 5-point scale) to accept a COVID-19 vaccine if it was recommended by authorities and free of charge (Figure 4). Considerably fewer individuals reported high willingness to take a test-phase COVID-19 vaccine. Only just over ¹⁄₄ of those living in Pietarsaari intended to take the influenza vaccine the next season, whereas most of the parents and the Facebook users intended to get vaccinated against influenza.

The results concerning germ aversion did not support our hypotheses that those with higher germ aversion would perceive vaccines as less safe and have lower intentions to accept vaccines. Figure 5 shows the results from the structural regression analyses relating to vaccination intentions, pooled across vaccines. For the mid-pandemic measures, the results were also pooled across samples (the Pietarsaari and Facebook samples). Prepandemic germ aversion was unrelated to vaccination intentions, whereas the result on mid-pandemic germ aversion was in the opposite direction of what we expected. Those with higher mid-pandemic germ aversion perceived vaccines as slightly safer and had higher intentions to be vaccinated. The effect sizes were similar across vaccines and samples. On the other hand, our hypothesis on perceived infectability was supported, as those with higher perceived infectability before and during the pandemic had higher intentions to accept vaccines. There was some variation across samples and vaccines in the strength of the relationships. Perceived infectability was most consistently related to intention to accept the influenza vaccine.



Figure 4. Vaccination intentions in the FinnBrain, Pietarsaari, and Facebook samples. Responses are coded as high intentions (response alternatives 4 and 5 on the 5-point scale ranging from *very unlikely* to *very likely*), medium intentions (response alternative 3), and low intentions (response alternatives 1 and 2). An exception to this is that influenza vaccination intention was measured on a 3-point scale in the Pietarsaari sample.



Figure 5. Germ aversion and perceived infectability as predictors of vaccination intentions. The standardized beta coefficients have been pooled across vaccines. Additionally, the mid-pandemic coefficients have been pooled across the Pietarsaari and Facebook samples. Higher scores indicate higher vaccination intention, higher germ aversion, and higher perceived infectability.

4.3. Study III: Perceived Disease Risk and Vaccine Safety as Predictors of COVID-19 Vaccination Intentions

Figure 6 shows how much risk the FinnBrain parents, the Pietarsaari residents, and the Facebook users perceived COVID-19, influenza, and measles to pose, as well as how safe they perceived the vaccines against the diseases to be. Visual inspection of the figure indicates some differences between the samples in the perceived risk of COVID-19 that might be explained by differences in sample characteristics. First, the Facebook sample included the largest proportion of older individuals (47% were over 50 years old) compared to the Pietarsaari (29% over 50 years old) and FinnBrain (1% over 50 years old) samples, which might explain the difference that can be seen in the perceived risk of COVID-19 for oneself. Most FinnBrain parents and residents in the Pietarsaari region considered it unlikely that they would suffer severe symptoms if they contracted COVID-19 and did not

worry much about falling ill. On the other hand, most of the Facebook users expected COVID-19 to be severe for their personal health and reported worry about contracting the disease. Second, the Pietarsaari residents and the Facebook users were surveyed in the beginning of April, at the peak of the first pandemic wave. The FinnBrain sample was surveyed in May, when the first wave was decreasing and more information about the risks of COVID-19 was available. Speculatively, this might explain the difference related to the perceived general severity of COVID-19: the FinnBrain parents considered COVID-19 as a slightly less severe disease for people in general.

The statistical analyses showed that individuals perceived COVID-19 to pose a greater risk than influenza. COVID-19 was also mostly considered a higher risk than measles, but the results concerning whether COVID-19 or measles was perceived as more severe were mixed. Respondents expected that a prospective vaccine against COVID-19 would be less safe than the vaccine against measles, but slightly safer than the influenza vaccine.

Figure 7 presents the results from the analyses on whether perceived disease risk, objective disease risk, and perceived vaccine safety predicts intentions to accept a COVID-19 vaccine recommended by authorities. Although the samples differed somewhat regarding the perceived risks of COVID-19, the regression results were similar across the samples. The perceived disease-risk measures were mostly unrelated to vaccination intentions. An exception to this was the perceived general severity of the disease, as those who perceived COVID-19 to be a potentially severe disease for others had slightly higher intentions to get vaccinated in all three samples. Concerning objective risk, neither disease prevalence nor respondent age was a reliable predictor of vaccination intentions, but men had somewhat higher intentions to get vaccinated than women. There was a strong relationship between how safe respondents expected that a prospective COVID-19 vaccine will be and vaccination intentions. Those with greater trust in the vaccine being safe had higher vaccination intentions.



Figure 6. Perceived risk of COVID-19, influenza, and measles, as well as perceived safety of the vaccines. The outer borders of the violin shapes represent the frequency of responses. Dots represent means and bars standard deviations. High scores indicate high perceived disease risk and vaccine safety.



Figure 7. Standardized beta coefficients from the regression analyses on predictors of COVID-19 vaccination intentions. Higher scores indicate higher intention to take vaccine, higher perceived disease risk, higher objective disease risk, perceiving the vaccine as safer, and older age. Gender was coded as 0 = female, 1 = male. The analyses were conducted separately in each sample (sample is represented by color).

4.4. Study IV: Vaccination and Recommendation Behaviors Among Health Professionals

Four percent of the health professionals had at some point rejected a vaccine for their own child, whereas 96% had accepted all childhood vaccines. Of those who had accepted all vaccines, 11% had hesitated and/or postponed a childhood vaccination. Most health professionals (86%) had taken the influenza vaccine the preceding season (Figure 8). The majority of health professionals reported guiding unsure patients and parents towards vaccinating (Figure 9). The percentage of health professionals who reported that they do not guide unsure parents or patients in any direction was 13% for childhood vaccines and 26% for influenza vaccines.

Most health professionals perceived vaccines to be beneficial and safe (Figure 10) and reported trust in their colleagues. An average of 5% disagreed with childhood vaccines being safe and beneficial, whereas the corresponding percentage for influenza vaccination was 17%. The analysis on whether the health professionals' attitudes and trust predicted their own vaccination behaviors showed that health professionals who perceived vaccines as less beneficial and safe more often reported that they had hesitated in a vaccination decision or postponed or rejected a vaccine for their own children. They were also less likely to having taken the influenza vaccine the preceding influenza season. Furthermore, the health professionals with more negative vaccine attitudes were less likely to guide parents and patients who are unsure about their vaccination decision towards accepting vaccines. Trust in the competence and intentions of other health professionals was not uniquely related to the health professionals' vaccination and recommendation behaviors.

Childhood vaccination



Figure 8. Past vaccination behaviors reported by health professionals. For childhood vaccinations, the bar shows the proportion of parents who had accepted all childhood vaccines (blue) or rejected at least one (red). For influenza vaccination, the bar shows the percentage of parents who had been vaccinated against influenza the preceding influenza season (blue) and the percentage of those who had not (red).



Figure 9. Health professionals' vaccine-recommendation behavior when they encounter parents or patients who are unsure about vaccination.



Figure 10. Vaccine attitudes among health professionals. Note that for reverse-scored items (marked with R), agreement means negative vaccine attitudes.

45

Because the health professionals' vaccine attitudes were related to their vaccination and recommendation behaviors, we further explored these attitudes by examining potential differences in vaccine attitudes between the professional groups. The results indicated that health professionals with a higher level of educational held more positive vaccine attitudes. Figure 11 shows the percentage of health professionals (averaged over the statements) that agreed with the statements concerning the benefits and safety of vaccines, separately for professional groups. The percentages are also shown separately for whether the statements require knowledge related to specific vaccines or diseases, or whether the statement queried general information about vaccines. Visual inspection of the figure suggests that the difference in positive vaccine attitudes between professional groups is most prominent for the statements concerning specific information.



Figure 11. Percentage of health professionals agreeing with vaccineattitude statements (disagreeing with reversed statements), averaged over the statements. The statements are categorized according to whether they queried knowledge about vaccines in general or knowledge about specific vaccines or vaccine-preventable diseases.

5. Discussion

5.1. Vaccine Attitudes, Vaccination Behaviors, and Vaccination Intentions in the General Population

5.1.1. Childhood vaccines

According to national statistics, only 1% of Finnish children are completely unvaccinated by the age of three (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021i). The low number of unvaccinated children indicates that complete vaccine refusal by parents is very rare. In line with this, our results showed that the great majority of the parents of young children (the FinnBrain sample) had accepted all vaccines for their children and held positive attitudes to childhood vaccines. Nonetheless, 7% of the parents reported that they at some point had refused a vaccine for their child. In addition, 21% of those who had accepted all vaccines reported that they had hesitated in their decisions, or that they had postponed one or more childhood vaccines. Individuals who have hesitated in the past might be at a higher risk for refusing vaccines in the future. Misinformation about vaccines negatively influence individuals' vaccine attitudes and vaccination intentions (Featherstone & Zhang, 2020; Jolley & Douglas, 2014, 2017; Loomba et al., 2021). Individuals who are unsure about vaccinations might be especially vulnerable to vaccine-related controversies and false claims in news media and on online social platforms. Sudden drops in vaccine uptake following such media coverage have been observed in the past and can be long-lasting, even though false claims are refuted by scientific evidence and experts (Anderberg et al., 2011; Brilli et al., 2020; Gørtz et al., 2020; Hansen et al., 2019; M. J. Smith et al., 2008; Suppli et al., 2018). Reasonably, the larger the number of individuals who are unsure about vaccination, the larger the drops in vaccine uptake following vaccine controversies. Addressing parents' concerns at an early stage, preferably before exposure to misinformation, may serve to protect them from false information that they encounter (Lewandowsky & van der Linden, 2021).

5.1.2. Influenza vaccines

About half of the FinnBrain parents reported that they had been vaccinated against influenza the preceding influenza season. Intentions to take future influenza vaccines was lowest among the residents in the Pietarsaari

region, where only 29% reported that they plan to get vaccinated. The hospital district to which the Pietarsaari region belongs, is among those with the lowest influenza vaccine uptake nationally (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021d [information available only for children and older individuals]). Among the FinnBrain parents and Facebook users, 67% and 60%, respectively, reported high intentions to accept influenza vaccination the upcoming influenza season.

As mentioned above, one reason for why uptake rates are lower for influenza vaccines than childhood vaccines, is that the influenza vaccines require individuals to actively seek out vaccination, whereas the childhood vaccines are offered in connection with scheduled checks of the child's health (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021g; Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, 2021). Furthermore, the results of the present thesis showed that the general population held more negative attitudes to the influenza vaccines than to childhood vaccines. This might be a result of previous controversies surrounding the influenza vaccines. The Pandemrix vaccine that was administered against the H1N1 influenza during the pandemic in 2009–2010 was later found to increase the risk of narcolepsy, especially among children and adolescents (Sarkanen, Alakuijala, Dauvilliers, et al., 2018; Sarkanen, Alakuijala, Julkunen, et al., 2018). This finding received considerable media attention in Finland and is likely to have affected people's vaccine attitudes, especially those related to influenza vaccines. Nevertheless, most of the respondents in our studies held positive attitudes to the influenza vaccines, finding the vaccines beneficial and safe.

5.1.3. COVID-19 vaccines

Approximately ³/₄ of the respondents surveyed in the spring of 2020 considered the likelihood to be high that they would accept a prospective COVID-19 vaccine if it was recommended by authorities. The rate of individuals who intended to take the vaccine was similar across the samples. Most respondents also trusted that the vaccine would be safe. The respondents rated the safety of a prospective COVID-19 vaccine as slightly higher than the influenza vaccines, but lower than the vaccine against measles. Other studies surveying vaccination intentions during the beginning of the pandemic have produced similar results. In other European countries, 62–80% of individuals were found likely to accept a vaccine against COVID-19 (Murphy et al., 2020; Neumann-Böhme et al., 2020), whereas the rates were 62–69% in the US (Callaghan et al., 2021; Head et al., 2020; Malik et al., 2020; Ruiz & Bell, 2021), 76–86% in Australia (Dodd et al., 2020; Faasse & Newby, 2020; Rhodes et al., 2020), and 84–94% in Asian countries (Lin et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2020). At the time of this writing, COVID-19 vaccines have been administered in Finland for approximately nine months, and vaccines are given to individuals 12 years and older. The uptake of the first vaccine dose among these individuals exceeds 80% (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021c), which is higher than the intention rates estimated in the beginning of the pandemic. Speculatively, one of the reasons for the higher uptake might be the increased knowledge about the disease and the safety and efficacy of the vaccines that has been accumulated during the past year.

5.2. Motives Behind Vaccine Attitudes, Vaccination Behaviors and Vaccination Intentions

Given the non-negligible proportion of individuals in the samples included in the present thesis that had hesitated in past vaccination decisions and who had low intentions to accept vaccines in the future, research on psychological correlates of vaccine attitudes and behaviors is well justified also in the Finnish context. In this section, I discuss our findings related to nonconformist identity and behavioral immune system mechanisms as motives behind vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors and intentions.

5.2.1. Nonconformist Identity

In accordance with previous research (Hornsey et al., 2018b), the parents who reported nonconformist tendencies in the form of reactance held more negative attitudes to childhood and influenza vaccines. This indicates that negative vaccine attitudes can be motivated by a need to express opposition to consensus views and communicate a nonconformist identity. In addition, we found that reactant individuals were more likely to have postponed or refused childhood vaccinations and to have remained unvaccinated against influenza the preceding season, but these relationships were small. Taken together, these results suggest that although some individuals might express negative vaccine attitudes to communicate a nonconformist identity, many of these individuals still choose to accept vaccines. This would mean that reactance does not affect vaccine uptake directly through refusal of vaccines, but that reactance might indirectly affect vaccine uptake, if anti-vaccination attitudes expressed by reactant individuals influence others' vaccination decisions.

In line with what we expected, reactant individuals had lower trust in medical doctors, which partly explained the association between reactance and vaccine attitudes. Similar results were found in another recent study, which showed that more reactant parents rated the quality of their vaccinerelated communication with their pediatrician as lower compared to less reactant parents (Finkelstein et al., 2020). Lower perceived communication quality was, in turn, associated with perceiving vaccines as less safe and reporting vaccinating one's child to be of lower priority. Together, the results of these studies suggest that vaccine attitudes expressed to communicate a nonconformist identity relate to opposition to medical doctors. When it comes to vaccination behaviors, our results indicated that reactant individuals only hesitate, or postpone or reject childhood vaccines to the degree that they distrust doctors. For influenza vaccines, there was an additional direct effect between higher reactance and not having taken the influenza vaccine, which means that some reactant individuals might reject influenza vaccination regardless of their trust in doctors. There are several differences between childhood and influenza vaccinations, which might explain the discrepancies between the results. For example, childhood vaccination decisions are made on behalf of one's child, whereas the influenza vaccination question presented in our study concerned the respondents' own vaccinations. There are also potential differences between the perceived risks of the diseases that the childhood vaccines prevent against and the perceived risks of influenza. Hence, deciding not to vaccinate for nonconformist reasons, despite trusting doctors, might be considered less risky when it comes to influenza vaccination for oneself than childhood vaccinations for one's children.

Reactance was also associated with the use of treatments outside conventional medicine, as individuals with high reactance were slightly more likely to use several forms of CAM. This association was very small, and completely explained by reactant individuals having lower trust in doctors. Nevertheless, we found no clear support for our expectation that reactant individuals who hold negative vaccine attitudes also turn to CAM. In other words, individuals who are nonconformists do not necessarily both reject vaccines and turn to CAM to express disagreement with medical consensus. One explanation for why CAM use was only weakly related to reactance, trust, vaccine attitudes, and vaccination behavior might be that we did not separate between CAMs used as complements and those used as alternatives to conventional medicine. There might also be qualitative differences between the CAMs that were not captured with our measure. Furthermore, previous research indicates that attitudes to CAM are more strongly related to vaccine attitudes than CAM use is (Bryden et al., 2018; Lewandowsky, Woike, et al., 2020).

5.2.2. Evolved Disease-Avoidance Mechanisms

Previous research has suggested that individuals who are more disgust sensitive and germ aversive have more negative vaccine attitudes, potentially because vaccines are administered in ways that serve as cues to contamination (Clay, 2017; Clifford & Wendell, 2016; Hornsey et al., 2018b; Luz et al., 2019; Reuben et al., 2020). This was not supported by our study. On the contrary, we found that individuals with more germ aversion during the pandemic had slightly *higher* intentions to get vaccinated against COVID-19 and influenza, and perceived the vaccines as safer. Level of contamination aversion under non-pandemic circumstances did not predict intentions to get vaccinated.

Naturally, one potential explanation for our findings is that vaccines are not recognized as contamination cues. This, however, conflicts with the results of previous studies. A second potential explanation is the increased disease threat caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. As germ aversive individuals are more sensitive to contamination cues, they might be particularly responsive to the increased threat. For these individuals, the perceived pathogen threat posed by vaccines might pale compared to that posed by COVID-19. This is supported by other studies conducted during the pandemic, that have found that individuals with higher disgust sensitivity and germ aversion find it more important to engage in preventive behaviors such as handwashing and social distancing, and report higher compliance with recommendations (De Coninck et al., 2020; Díaz & Cova, 2020; Makhanova & Shepherd, 2020; Shook et al., 2020). Potentially, when disease threat is high, germ aversive individuals are more motivated than less germ aversive individuals to take preventive action. When disease threat is low, on the other hand, they are more likely than non-germ aversive individuals to perceive that the vaccines pose the larger threat. The fact that individuals who have high germ aversion did not only have

higher intentions to accept COVID-19 vaccines, but also influenza vaccines, would suggest that the increased threat generalizes across vaccines.

Another study conducted during the pandemic found that disgust sensitive individuals were more likely to hold anti-vaccination attitudes also under the increased disease threat caused by the pandemic (Kempthorne & Terrizzi, 2021). This study was conducted in the autumn of 2020. Hypothetically, habituation to the pandemic threat, together with an increased media attention and public discussion concerning the safety of the forthcoming COVID-19 vaccines, cause germ aversive individuals to be more reluctant to accept vaccination. Because neither we nor Kempthorne and Terrizzi (2021) investigated vaccination intentions under different levels of disease threat, the explanation related to level of threat is only speculative.

The combined results of the three samples supported our hypothesis that individuals with higher perceived infectability had higher vaccination intentions. Although the associations were weak, the results are in line with the theory of the behavioral immune system. When individuals perceive themselves as more vulnerable, they are expected to be more motivated to protect themselves against disease (Ackerman et al., 2018; Schaller & Park, 2011). In sum, the results indicated that behavioral immune system activation promotes acceptance of vaccines during more immediate disease threat.

5.3. Perceived Disease Risk and Vaccine Safety as Predictors of Vaccination Intentions During the Pandemic

Negative vaccine attitudes and vaccine rejection have been suggested to result from the fact that many vaccine-preventable diseases are not present in our environment and thus not perceived to pose a threat. Compared to such diseases, COVID-19 has since its outbreak been highly present in society. The virus has spread worldwide (Center for Systems Science and Engineering at John Hopkins University, 2021) and the pandemic has been extensively covered in news media (Krawczyk et al., 2021). A wide range of non-pharmaceutical interventions implemented by governments to limit the disease spread has affected daily life (Haug et al., 2020). The results of the present thesis also indicated that individuals perceived COVID-19 to pose a larger threat than the vaccine-preventable diseases influenza and measles. Regardless of this, approximately ¼ of the respondents surveyed

in the beginning of the pandemic reported that they had low intentions to accept a prospective COVID-19 vaccine recommended by authorities or that they were unsure about whether they would accept such a vaccine or not. By far, the strongest predictor of lower intention to accept COVID-19 vaccination was less trust in the vaccine being safe. Only one of the measures of perceived disease risk—the perceived general severity of the disease—showed a consistent relationship with individuals' vaccination intentions. This relationship was small and indicated that those who perceived COVID-19 to be a potentially severe disease for others had slightly higher vaccination intentions. Taken together, these results mean that individuals who perceive COVID-19 as a severe disease are still likely to choose not to get vaccinated if they consider the vaccine unsafe. On the other hand, individuals who perceive the vaccine as safe are likely to accept the vaccine even though they do not consider the disease as severe. Also other studies have found that worries about side-effects are more strongly related than perceived disease risk to intentions to get vaccinated against COVID-19 (Callaghan et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2020). Furthermore, studies that have asked individuals about their reason for being reluctant to accept a COVID-19 vaccine have found safety concerns to be the most frequently reported reason (Callaghan et al., 2021; Neumann-Böhme et al., 2020; Rhodes et al., 2020; Ruiz & Bell, 2021).

The perceived and objective risk of COVID-19 to one's personal health were not robustly associated with intentions to get vaccinated. An exception was the fact that men—who are at increased risk of suffering severe symptoms of COVID-19-had slightly higher intentions to take a prospective vaccine. This is in line with the findings of a meta-analysis of gender differences in COVID-19 vaccination intentions (Zintel et al., 2021). The relationship between gender, disease risk, and vaccination intentions is, however, not straightforward. Although the objective risks of COVID-19 are greater for men (Galbadage et al., 2020; Griffith et al., 2020), women have been found to perceive their risk of COVID-19 as greater (Galasso et al., 2020). This suggests that the relationship between female gender and lower vaccination intentions is caused by other factors than differences in objective disease risk. For example, women have been found more concerned about side-effects of the COVID-19 vaccines compared to men (Neumann-Böhme et al., 2020). When it comes to age, older age was not a robust predictor of higher vaccination intentions in the present study, although older individuals run a higher risk of suffering severe symptoms of COVID-19 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). The findings of other research on the topic are mixed, but most often, older individuals have been found slightly more willing to accept COVID-19 vaccination (Daly & Robinson, 2021; Head et al., 2020; Lazarus et al., 2020; Paul et al., 2021; Rhodes et al., 2020; Vai et al., 2020). Actual COVID-19 vaccine uptake also indicate higher uptake in older age groups (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021d).

In conclusion, unwillingness to accept vaccines was present also during more salient disease threat, and this unwillingness was mostly explained by vaccine safety concerns. Individuals perceiving COVID-19 as a potentially severe disease for others had slightly higher intentions to get vaccinated. Beyond that, perceived disease risk played little role for vaccination intentions. Although most individuals perceived COVID-19 as a serious disease and worried about transmitting it to others, many individuals (especially in the younger samples) considered it unlikely that they personally would suffer severe symptoms if they contracted the disease. It thus seems that COVID-19 was not experienced as threatening enough, especially to oneself, for disease threat to override vaccine safety concerns for some individuals.

5.4. Health Professionals' Vaccination and Recommendation Behaviors

Compared to the sample of parents drawn from the general population, the health professionals held more positive vaccine attitudes, were more likely to have accepted vaccines, and were less likely to have hesitated in their vaccination decisions. More specifically, 4% had rejected at least one vaccine for their own child, and 11% of those who had accepted all vaccines had hesitated and/or postponed a childhood vaccine. The majority (86%) of the health professionals had accepted the influenza vaccine the preceding season. The uptake of the influenza vaccine in the present sample of health professionals was high compared to uptake rates reported in other countries (Dini et al., 2018). This can partly be due to the Communicable Diseases Act (Communicable Diseases Act, 2016), but evidence suggests that influenza vaccine acceptance was high among Finnish health professionals (63% in 2015–2016) already before the act came into effect (Häggblom et al., 2019). In European countries where influence is the preceding was end of the same preceding was high compared countries where influence suggests where influenza vaccine acceptance was high among Finnish health professionals (63% in 2015–2016) already before the act came into effect (Häggblom et al., 2019). In European countries where influence is provident of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of the alter of the act came influence suggest of the alter of t

enza vaccinations are not required for health professionals, uptake rates are typically lower than 30% (Dini et al., 2018).

Although the vast majority of the health professionals held positive vaccine attitudes and most trusted the professional competence and intentions of their colleagues, a non-negligible proportion questioned the benefits and safety of vaccines and expressed distrust in their colleagues. Considering the fact that health professionals are perceived by laypeople to be the most reliable source of information about vaccines (Charron et al., 2020; Danchin et al., 2018; Eller et al., 2019; Napolitano, D'Alessandro, et al., 2018; O'Leary et al., 2018), it is alarming that many health professionals did not disagree with common vaccine myths, such as vaccines causing autism. This can give laypeople the false impression that the scientific evidence on such topics is inconclusive, when in reality, numerous studies have refuted that there would be a link between vaccinations and autism (DeStefano & Shimabukuro, 2019; Hviid et al., 2019; Taylor et al., 2014).

Negative vaccine attitudes among health professionals are not only a cause for concern when patients ask for information about vaccines. The results indicated that the health professionals who had more negative vaccine attitudes were less likely to guide individuals who are unsure about their vaccination decision towards vaccinating. A relationship between vaccine attitudes and recommendation behavior has been observed also in previous research on health professionals (Collange et al., 2019; Morales et al., 2020; Napolitano, Navaro, et al., 2018; Paterson et al., 2016). As receiving a recommendation from health professionals is the most frequently mentioned reason for vaccine acceptance (Napolitano et al., 2017; Napolitano, D'Alessandro, et al., 2018; L. E. Smith et al., 2017; Song et al., 2017), it is likely that lack of guidance from health professionals undermines vaccine uptake. Furthermore, the results from the present study showed that health professionals who perceived vaccines as less beneficial and safe were also less likely to have accepted all vaccines for their own children and to have taken the influenza vaccine the preceding influenza season, which is consistent with previous research (Dini et al., 2018; Wilson et al., 2020).

An important finding is also that the health professionals' vaccine attitudes were related to their level of education. Doctors had the most positive vaccine attitudes, followed by head nurses, nurses, and practical nurses. This pattern could be seen especially for statements that required specific knowledge (i.e., related to specific vaccines or diseases), whereas the difference between professions was smaller for general statements (i.e., related to vaccines in general). This might indicate that the extent to which health professionals view vaccines as beneficial and safe is related to how much medical training they have received. If this is the case, providing health professionals with more vaccine-related education might have positive effects on their vaccine attitudes, vaccination behaviors, and willingness to recommend vaccines to patients. On the other hand, the relationship between vaccine attitudes and professional group can also be explained by other factors, such as differences in amount or type of vaccine-related work, differences in professional identity, or differences between individuals who apply to the different educational programs.

5.5. Limitations

First, the data in the present thesis are based on self-reports. Self-reports about past behaviors rely on memory, which makes the data vulnerable to forgetting. Respondents might also be inclined to respond in a way that they consider socially desirable. To decrease the risk that the data would be biased by social desirability, we informed the respondents in all data-collections that the data would be handled anonymously. Additionally, a recent study indicated that self-reports of compliance with government recommendations and restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic are not affected by social desirability (Larsen et al., 2020).

Second, the cross-sectional data-collection procedures did not allow for robust conclusions concerning causality, and, hence, all causal interpretations are speculative. Furthermore, the studies relating to COVID-19 vaccines were conducted in the beginning of the pandemic. Intentions to get vaccinated against COVID-19 have fluctuated over time. Studies in the US observed a decline between the pandemic onset and the autumn of 2020 in percentage of individuals willing to accept COVID-19 vaccines (Daly & Robinson, 2021; Fridman et al., 2020). Analysis of how intentions to get vaccinated against COVID-19 developed over time in European countries indicated a slightly decreasing trend during 2020, but this trend turned in the last months of the year and vaccination intentions started to increase (John Hopkins Center for Communication Programs, 2021).

Third, we developed many of the administered measures for the purpose of the current studies, and the measures were not independently validated. Nevertheless, thorough literature review and discussions preceded the formulation of the questions. For many of the constructs, we used factor analysis to evaluate the degree to which the questions loaded on the expected factors and to handle measurement error. Furthermore, the questions we administered to the sample of health professionals were assessed by vaccination experts working in a nursing education program before data collection.

Fourth, it is important to note that our sample of health professionals did not include public-health nurses working at child health clinics, although these administer most childhood vaccines. This limits the applied importance of our findings when it comes to the recommendation behavior related to childhood vaccines. Furthermore, practical nurses do not have the right to administer vaccines in Finland. However, some of them reported discussing vaccinations with patients on a weekly basis. Excluding the practical nurses from the sample did not change the conclusions of the analyses.

Lastly, there are some sample-specific limitations relating to generalizability. The FinnBrain parents take part in a longitudinal project that measures health-related aspects at multiple time points during several years. It is possible that these parents have more positive attitudes to conventional medicine and doctors compared to the population in general. Although the Pietarsaari sample was collected in a vaccination pocket, the sample did not demonstrate a consequently higher rate of negative vaccine attitudes or vaccine rejection compared to the other samples. This might be due to the recruitment procedure, and that those in the first data collection who consented to being contacted again have more positive vaccine attitudes than those who did not. The sample might therefore not be representative for the region of Pietarsaari. Although all samples might suffer from sampling bias due to self-selection, this might be especially relevant for the Facebook sample. Whereas survey invitations were directed to the individuals personally in the other samples, the individuals in the Facebook sample entered the survey through clicking an ad in their Facebook feed. It is possible that individuals with certain characteristics, such as very negative or very positive vaccine attitudes, are more interested in vaccine-related surveys and hence are more inclined to interact with the ad.

5.6. Conclusions

Although most individuals had accepted vaccines in the past and intended to accept vaccines in the future, the results of the present thesis showed that vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors and intentions varied between vaccines. Attitudes towards childhood vaccines were mostly positive, whereas negative attitudes regarding the benefits and safety of the influenza vaccines were more common. COVID-19 vaccines were expected to be slightly safer than influenza vaccines. The pattern was the same for vaccination behaviors and intentions. Few individuals had rejected vaccines for their children (although some had hesitated in their decision to vaccinate their child), whereas about half of the individuals had remained unvaccinated against influenza the preceding influenza season. Individuals had higher intentions to get vaccinated against COVID-19 than against influenza.

The two potential motives that we investigated both showed to be related—although weakly so—to vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors and intentions. First, the results indicated that some individuals are motivated to hold negative vaccine attitudes by the need to express a nonconformist identity, partly because they have lower trust in medical doctors. Sometimes, but more rarely, the need to express a nonconformist identity might also result in vaccine rejection. Second, our results indicated that behavioral immune system activation promotes vaccine acceptance during higher disease threat. Because some of the relationships between behavioral immune system mechanisms and vaccine attitudes and vaccination intentions were in the opposite of those obtained before the pandemic, the immediate disease threat caused by the pandemic might play a role in behavioral immune system response. Taken together, personal identity needs and fear of disease due to evolved disease-avoidance mechanisms might motivate individuals to hold certain vaccine attitudes, and to accept or reject vaccines.

The results of the present thesis showed that some individuals had low intentions to get vaccinated against COVID-19, also during the more salient disease threat caused by the pandemic. The by far strongest predictor of having low vaccination intentions was not trusting the vaccine to be safe. This indicates that the potential risks of COVID-19 are not considered serious enough to override vaccine safety concerns for some individuals. That some individuals did not expect the vaccines recommended by medical authorities to be safe also reveals issues with trust in the authorities.

Although HCPs predominantly held positive vaccine attitudes, some questioned the benefit and safety of vaccines. As these HCPs were also less likely to guide their patients towards accepting vaccines, negative vaccine attitudes among HCPs might negatively affect vaccine uptake in the public. Because of the important role HCPs play in informing patients about vaccines and addressing patients' concerns, it is alarming that relatively many HCPs did not take a stand against common vaccine misperceptions.

5.7. Practical Implications and Recommendations for Future Research

Vaccine uptake is high in Finland (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2021j). Nevertheless, the results of the present thesis showed that a nonnegligible number of individuals have hesitated in their vaccination decisions, and that some have low intentions to accept vaccines in the future. This underscores the importance of health professionals and authorities communicating with patients and the public about vaccines although vaccination rates are high. Such communication is most likely to be effective if it is guided by research. The present thesis identified several correlates of vaccination behavior. Whether targeting these correlates in vaccine communication and interventions increase vaccine acceptance should be investigated in experimental studies. Because educational interventions have hitherto proved to be largely ineffective in changing people's vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors, and because the motives behind negative vaccine attitudes and vaccine rejection vary between individuals, future research should investigate whether tailoring communication according to individual motives is a more effective strategy.

Based on the results of the present thesis, one factor that might affect how vaccine communication by health professionals and authorities is received, is reactance. Individuals with high reactance might benefit from different kinds of vaccine communication than those with low reactance. Previous research conducted on other topics than vaccination indicates that communication that uses controlling language—indicating what a person must or should do—evoke more reactance than communication that restores the individual's autonomy (Rosenberg & Siegel, 2018). Furthermore, highlighting the individual's freedom to make their own decision and using narratives and empathy-evoking communication has been shown to elicit less reactance (Rosenberg & Siegel, 2018). As the results of the present thesis indicated that reactance might be a reason for why some individuals hold negative vaccine attitudes, it is possible that communication techniques such as the ones mentioned above, are beneficial in vaccine communication as well. Future research should investigate whether this is the case and examine how such communication should be formulated to minimize the risk of evoking opposition in highly reactant individuals. Nevertheless, it is important to note that reactance was only weakly related to vaccine attitudes and vaccination behavior in the present thesis. This means that most individuals who hold negative vaccine attitudes and reject vaccines do so for other reasons than socially establishing themselves as nonconformists. The main focus when trying to increase vaccine uptake should thus be on individuals who are not reactant.

The results of the present thesis further indicated that behavioral immune system activation promotes acceptance of vaccines when disease threat is high. However, the associations were weak and in conflict with other studies on the topic. Future research is needed to investigate whether level of disease threat moderates the relationship between behavioral immune system mechanisms and willingness to get vaccinated.

That perceived vaccine safety was very strongly related to individuals' willingness to take a COVID-19 vaccine suggests that health authorities should focus their communication on the safety of the vaccines to ensure sufficient vaccine uptake. Misinformation and controversies related to vaccine safety might have detrimental effects on vaccine uptake if they increase concern about the safety of COVID-19 vaccines. Warning and informing people before they are exposed to misinformation has been found to be a more effective way to protect individuals from the misinformation than trying to correct misperceptions when they have already been acquired (Lewandowsky & van der Linden, 2021). Thus, health authorities should try to predict what kind of misinformation about vaccine safety is likely to emerge and plan communication accordingly. When misperceptions has already been acquired, larger refutational efforts are likely to be needed (Lewandowsky, Cook, et al., 2020). When it comes to disease threat, reminding the public about the fact that COVID-19 can have detrimental health consequences for those infected might also positively affect vaccine uptake. The magnitude of that effect might, nevertheless, be smaller, as the relationship between perceived disease severity and people's willingness to be vaccinated was weak. As the current data collections related to COVID-19 were conducted during the early phase of the pandemic, when COVID-

19 vaccines were highly hypothetical, research on correlates of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance should be conducted when the vaccination decision is of more immediate relevance to individuals. Additionally, whether the pandemic has affected people's attitudes to vaccines against other diseases than COVID-19, is an important topic for future research. Both the experience of the consequences of an uncontrolled pandemic disease, as well as the increased media attention and public discussion concerning vaccines might have affected individuals' general vaccine attitudes and willingness to get vaccinated.

Lastly, future research is needed to expand the knowledge on why some health professionals hold negative vaccine attitudes, and whether more vaccine-related training can increase their confidence in vaccines and willingness to recommend vaccines to patients. Also other potential reasons for the differences in vaccine attitudes between professional groups should be examined, such as their type of vaccine-related work, or professional identity or culture. To increase the possibility to inform training practices, studies investigating vaccine attitudes among HCPs could use survey items pertaining to more specific knowledge about vaccines and common, context-specific vaccine misperceptions. Studies should also include additional vaccine-related constructs, such as trust in health authorities and official vaccine recommendations, confidence in discussing vaccines with patients, and practical barriers to recommending and administering vaccines. Future research should also develop techniques for building health professionals' resistance to misinformation and provide tools that help them refute misinformation when discussing with patients. That health professionals communicate the benefits and safety of vaccines, combat misinformation, and recommend vaccines to patients are key elements for ensuring high vaccine uptake and protecting the public against infectious diseases.

References

- Ackerman, J. M., Hill, S. E., & Murray, D. R. (2018). The behavioral immune system: Current concerns and future directions. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *12*(2), 57–70. doi: 10.1111/spc3.12371
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179–211. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Anderberg, D., Chevalier, A., & Wadsworth, J. (2011). Anatomy of a health scare: Education, income and the MMR controversy in the UK. *Journal of Health Economics*, *30*(3), 515–530. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2011.01.009
- Arendt, F., & Scherr, S. (2020). Newsstimulated public-attention dynamics and vaccination coverage during a measles outbreak: An observational study. *Social Science* and Medicine, 265. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113495
- Attwell, K., Ward, P. R., Meyer, S. B., Rokkas, P. J., & Leask, J. (2018). "Doit-yourself": Vaccine rejection and complementary and alternative medicine (CAM). *Social Science and Medicine*, *196*, 106–114. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.11.022
- Baden, L. R., El Sahly, H. M., Essink, B., Kotloff, K., Frey, S., Novak, R., Diemert, D., Spector, S. A., Rouphael, N., Creech, C. B., McGettigan, J., Khetan, S., Segall, N., Solis, J., Brosz, A., Fierro, C., Schwartz, H., Neuzil, K., Corey, L., ... Zaks, T. (2021). Efficacy and safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *384*(5), 403– 416. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2035389

Bedford, H., Attwell, K., Danchin, M., Marshall, H., Corben, P., & Leask, J. (2018). Vaccine hesitancy, refusal and access barriers: The need for clarity in terminology. *Vaccine*, *36*(44), 6556–6558. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.08.004

- Betsch, C., Schmid, P., Heinemeier, D., Korn, L., Holtmann, C., & Böhm, R. (2018). Beyond confidence: Development of a measure assessing the 5C psychological antecedents of vaccination. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(12), 1–32. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208601
- Bish, A., Yardley, L., Nicoll, A., & Michie, S. (2011). Factors associated with uptake of vaccination against pandemic influenza: A systematic review. *Vaccine*, *29*(38), 6472–6484. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.06.107
- Brehm, S. S., & Brehm, J. W. (1981). *Psychological Reactance: A theory of Freedom and Control.* Academic Press.
- Brewer, N. T., Chapman, G. B., Gibbons, F. X., Gerrard, M., McCaul, K. D., & Weinstein, N. D. (2007). Meta-analysis of the relationship between risk perception and health behavior: The example of vaccination. *Health Psychology*, *26*(2), 136–145. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.2.136
- Brewer, N. T., Chapman, G. B., Rothman, A. J., Leask, J., & Kempe, A. (2017). Increasing vaccination: Putting psychological science into action. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest, 18*(3), 149–207. doi: 10.1177/1529100618760521
- Brien, S., Kwong, J. C., & Buckeridge, D. L. (2012). The determinants of 2009

pandemic A/H1N1 influenza vaccination: A systematic review. *Vaccine, 30*(7), 1255–1264. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.12.089

- Brilli, Y., Lucifora, C., Russo, A., & Tonello, M. (2020). Influenza vaccination behavior and media reporting of adverse events. *Health Policy*, *124*(12), 1403–1411. doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2020.08.010
- Brown, T. A. (2015). *Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research* (2nd ed.). The Guilford Press.
- Browne, M., Thomson, P., Rockloff, M., & Pennycock, G. (2015). Going against the herd: Psychological and cultural factors underlying the 'vaccination confidence gap.' *PLoS ONE*, *10*(9), 1– 14. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0132562

- Bryden, G. M., Browne, M., Rockloff, M., & Unsworth, C. (2018). Antivaccination and pro-CAM attitudes both reflect magical beliefs about health. *Vaccine*, *36*(9), 1227–1234. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.12.068
- Bults, M., Beaujean, D. J. M. A., Richardus, J. H., & Voeten, H. A. C. M. (2015).
 Perceptions and behavioral responses of the general public during the 2009 influenza A (H1N1) pandemic: A systematic review.
 Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness, 9(2), 207–219. doi: 10.1017/dmp.2014.160
- Callaghan, T., Moghtaderi, A., Lueck, J. A., Hotez, P., Strych, U., Dor, A., Fowler, E. F., & Motta, M. (2021). Correlates and disparities of intention to vaccinate against COVID-19. *Social Science and Medicine, 272*. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113638
- Carpenter, C. J. (2010). A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of health belief model variables in predicting

behavior. *Health Communication*, 25(8), 661–669. doi: 10.1080/10410236.2010.521906

- Center for Systems Science and Engineering at John Hopkins University. (2021). *COVID-19 dashboard*. https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.ht ml
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Older adults. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/ 2019-ncov/need-extraprecautions/older-adults.html
- Charron, J., Gautier, A., & Jestin, C. (2020). Influence of information sources on vaccine hesitancy and practices. *Medecine et Maladies Infectieuses*, *50*(8), 727–733. doi: 10.1016/j.medmal.2020.01.010
- Clay, R. (2017). The behavioral immune system and attitudes about vaccines: Contamination aversion predicts more negative vaccine attitudes. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 8(2), 162–172. doi: 10.1177/1948550616664957
- Clifford, S., & Wendell, D. G. (2016). How disgust influences health purity attitudes. *Political Behavior*, *38*(1), 155–178. doi: 10.1007/s11109-015-9310-z
- Collange, F., Zaytseva, A., Pulcini, C., Bocquier, A., & Verger, P. (2019). Unexplained variations in general practitioners' perceptions and practices regarding vaccination in France. *European Journal of Public Health, 29*(1), 2–8. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cky146
- Communicable Diseases Act, 1227/2016, Finlex. (2016).

https://www.finlex.fi/en/laki/kaan nokset/2016/en20161227

- Daly, M., & Robinson, E. (2021). Willingness to vaccinate against COVID-19 in the U.S.: Representative longitudinal evidence from April to October 2020. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 000(000). doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2021.01.008
- Danchin, M. H., Costa-Pinto, J., Attwell, K., Willaby, H., Wiley, K., Hoq, M., Leask, J., Perrett, K. P., O'Keefe, J., Giles, M. L., & Marshall, H. (2018). Vaccine decision-making begins in pregnancy: Correlation between vaccine concerns, intentions and maternal vaccination with subsequent childhood vaccine uptake. *Vaccine*, *36*(44), 6473–6479. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.08.003
- De Coninck, D., D'Haenens, L., & Matthijs, K. (2020). Perceived vulnerability to disease and attitudes towards public health measures: COVID-19 in Flanders, Belgium. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *166*. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110220
- DeStefano, F., & Shimabukuro, T. T. (2019). The MMR vaccine and autism. *Annual Review of Virology*, 6(1), 585–600. doi: 10.1146/annurevvirology-092818-015515
- Díaz, R., & Cova, F. (2020). Moral values and pathogen disgust predict compliance with official recommendations regarding COVID-19 pandemic. *PsyArXiv*. doi: 10.31234/osf.io/5zrqx
- Dini, G., Toletone, A., Sticchi, L., Orsi, A., Bragazzi, N. L., & Durando, P. (2018). Influenza vaccination in healthcare workers: A comprehensive critical appraisal of the literature. *Human Vaccines and*

Immunotherapeutics, *14*(3), 772– 789. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1348442

- Dodd, R., Cvejic, E., Bonner, C., Pickles, K., & McCaffery, K. (2020). Willingness to vaccinate against COVID-19 in Australia. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30559-4
- Douglas, K. M., Uscinski, J. E., Sutton, R. M., Cichocka, A., Nefes, T., Ang, C. S., & Deravi, F. (2019). Understanding conspiracy theories. *Political Psychology*, 40(S1), 3–35. doi: 10.1111/pops.12568
- Dubé, E., Gagnon, D., MacDonald, N. E., & the SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy. (2015). Strategies intended to address vaccine hesitancy: Review of published reviews. *Vaccine*, *33*(34), 4191– 4203. doi:

10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.041

- Dubé, E., Gagnon, D., Nickels, E., Jeram, S., & Schuster, M. (2014). Mapping vaccine hesitancy–Country-specific characteristics of a global phenomenon. *Vaccine*, *32*(49), 6649–6654. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.09.039
- Dubé, E., Laberge, C., Guay, M., Bramadat, P., Roy, R., & Bettinger, J. A. (2013). Vaccine hesitancy: An overview. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, 9(8), 1763– 1773. doi: 10.4161/hv.24657
- Dudley, M. Z., Privor-Dumm, L., Dubé, È., & MacDonald, N. E. (2020). Words matter: Vaccine hesitancy, vaccine demand, vaccine confidence, herd immunity and mandatory vaccination. *Vaccine*, *38*(4), 709– 711. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.11.056

Duncan, L. A., Schaller, M., & Park, J. H. (2009). Perceived vulnerability to disease: Development and validation of a 15-item self-report instrument. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(6), 541– 546. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2009.05.001

Eller, N. M., Henrikson, N. B., & Opel, D. J. (2019). Vaccine information sources and parental trust in their child's health care provider. *Health Education and Behavior*, *46*(3), 445– 453. doi: 10.1177/1090198118819716

Faasse, K., & Newby, J. (2020). Public perceptions of COVID-19 in Australia: Perceived risk, knowledge, health-protective behaviors, and vaccine intentions. *Frontiers in Psychology*. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.551004

Featherstone, J. D., & Zhang, J. (2020). Feeling angry: The effects of vaccine misinformation and refutational messages on negative emotions and vaccination attitude. *Journal of Health Communication*, *25*(9), 692– 702. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2020.1838671

Filia, A., Bella, A., D'Ancona, F., Fabiani, M., Giambi, C., Rizzo, C., Ferrara, L., Pascucci, M. G., & Rota, M. C. (2019). Childhood vaccinations: Knowledge, attitudes and practices of paediatricians and factors associated with their confidence in addressing parental concerns, Italy, 2016. *Euro Surveill*, 24(6). doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.6.1800275

Fine, P., Eames, K., & Heymann, D. L. (2011). "Herd immunity": A rough guide. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 52(7), 911–916. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir007 Finkelstein, S. R., Boland, W. A., Vallen, B., Connell, P. M., Sherman, G. D., & Feemster, K. A. (2020).
Psychological reactance impacts ratings of pediatrician vaccinerelated communication quality, perceived vaccine safety, and vaccination priority among U.S. parents. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*, 16(5), 1024– 1029. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2019.1694815

Finnish Government. (2020a).
Government, in cooperation with the President of the Republic, declares a state of emergency in Finland over coronavirus outbreak.
https://valtioneuvosto.fi/en/-/10616/hallitus-totesi-suomenolevan-poikkeusoloissakoronavirustilanteen-vuoksi

Finnish Government. (2020b). Movement restrictions to Uusimaa - the Government decided on further measures to prevent the spread of the coronavirus epidemic. https://valtioneuvosto.fi/en/-/10616/uudellemaalleliikkumisrajoituksia-hallitus-paattiuusista-lisatoimistakoronaepidemian-leviamisenestamiseksi

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021a). Arranging COVID-19 vaccinations in Finland. https://thl.fi/en/web/infectiousdiseases-and-vaccinations/what-snew/coronavirus-covid-19-latestupdates/transmission-andprotection-coronavirus/vaccinesand-coronavirus/arranging-covid-19-vaccinations-in-finland

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021b). Confirmed coronavirus cases (COVID-19) in Finland. https://experience.arcgis.com/expe rience/92e9bb33fac744c9a084381f c35aa3c7

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare.

(2021c). COVID-19-rokotusten edistyminen.

https://www.thl.fi/episeuranta/rok otukset/koronarokotusten_edistymi nen.html

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021d). COVID-19 vaccinations in Finland. https://sampo.thl.fi/pivot/prod/en /vaccreg/cov19cov/summary_cov1 9ageareacov

- Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021e). *Getting vaccinated against COVID-19: How, why and when?* https://thl.fi/en/web/infectiousdiseases-and-vaccinations/what-snew/coronavirus-covid-19-latestupdates/vaccines-andcoronavirus/getting-vaccinatedagainst-covid-19-how-why-andwhen-
- Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021f). *Influenssarokotuskattavuus*. https://www.thl.fi/roko/rokotusre kisteri/atlas/atlas.html?show=influ enza

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021g). *Influenza vaccine*. https://thl.fi/en/web/infectiousdiseases-andvaccinations/vaccines-a-toz/influenza-vaccine

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021h). National vaccination programme. https://thl.fi/en/web/vaccination/ national-vaccination-programme

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021i). *Rokotuskattavuus*. https://www.thl.fi/roko/rokotusre kisteri/atlas/public/atlas.html?sho w=nonvacc Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2021j). Vaccination coverage. https://www.thl.fi/roko/vaccreg/at las/public/atlasen.html?show=infantbc

- Fridman, A., Gershon, R., & Gneezy, A. (2020). COVID-19 and vaccine hesitancy: A longitudinal study. *Preprint.*
- Galasso, V., Pons, V., Profeta, P., Becher, M., Brouard, S., & Foucault, M. (2020). Gender differences in COVID-19 attitudes and behavior: Panel evidence from eight countries. *PNAS*, *117*(44), 27285–27291. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2012520117
- Galbadage, T., Peterson, B. M., Awada, J., Buck, A. S., Ramirez, D. A., Wilson, J., & Gunasekera, R. S. (2020). Systematic review and metaanalysis of sex-specific COVID-19 clinical outcomes. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 7(348). doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.00348
- Gørtz, M., Brewer, N. T., Hansen, P. R., & Ejrnæs, M. (2020). The contagious nature of a vaccine scare: How the introduction of HPV vaccination lifted and eroded MMR vaccination in Denmark. *Vaccine*, *38*(28), 4432– 4439. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.04.055
- Griffith, D. M., Sharma, G., Holliday, C. S., Enyia, O. K., Valliere, M., Semlow, A. R., Stewart, E. C., & Blumenthal, R. S. (2020). Men and COVID-19: A biopsychosocial approach to understanding sex differences in mortality and recommendations for practice and policy interventions. *Preventive Chronic Disease*, 17. doi: 10.5888/pcd17.200247external icon
- Häggblom, T., Oksi, J., & Rintala, E. (2019). Terveydenhuollon henkilöstön

asenteet influenssarokotusta kohtaan. *Lääkärilehti, 4,* 187–192.

- Hansen, N. D., Mølbak, K., Cox, I. J., & Lioma, C. (2019). Relationship between media coverage and measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccination uptake in Denmark: Retrospective study. *JMIR Public Health and Surveillance*, *5*(1). doi: 10.2196/publichealth.9544
- Haug, N., Geyrhofer, L., Londei, A., Dervic, E., Desvars-Larrive, A., Loreto, V., Pinior, B., Thurner, S., & Klimek, P. (2020). Ranking the effectiveness of worldwide COVID-19 government interventions. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 4, 1303–1312. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-01009-0
- Head, K. J., Kasting, M. L., Sturm, L. A., Hartsock, J. A., & Zimet, G. D. (2020). A national survey assessing SARS-CoV-2 vaccination Intentions: Implications for future public health communication efforts. *Science Communication*, 42(5), 698–723. doi: 10.1177/1075547020960463
- Hong, S.-M., & Page, S. (1989). A psychological reactance scale: Development, factor structure and reliability. *Psychological Reports*, 64(3_suppl). doi: 10.2466/pr0.1989.64.3c.1323
- Hornsey, M. J., & Fielding, K. S. (2017). Attitude roots and Jiu Jitsu persuasion: Understanding and overcoming the motivated rejection of science. 72(5), 459–473. doi: 10.1037/a0040437
- Hornsey, M. J., Harris, E. A., Fielding, K. S., Hornsey, M. J., Harris, E. A., & Fielding, K. S. (2018a). The psychological roots of antivaccination attitudes: a 24-nation investigation. *Health Psychology*. doi: 10.1037/hea0000586

Hornsey, M. J., Harris, E. A., Fielding, K. S., Hornsey, M. J., Harris, E. A., & Fielding, K. S. (2018b). The psychological roots of antivaccination attitudes: a 24-nation investigation. *Health Psychology*. doi: 10.1037/hea0000586

- Hornsey, M. J., Lobera, J., & Díaz-Catalán, C. (2020). Vaccine hesitancy is strongly associated with distrust of conventional medicine, and only weakly associated with trust in alternative medicine. *Social Science and Medicine*, *255*. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113019
- Hviid, A., Hansen, J. V., Frisch, M., & Melbye, M. (2019). Measles, mumps, rubella vaccination and autism a nationwide cohort study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *170*(8), 513–520. doi: 10.7326/M18-2101
- John Hopkins Center for Communication Programs. (2021). *KAP COVID: Trend analysis for 23 countries.* https://ccp.jhu.edu/kap-covid/kapcovid-trend-analysis-for-23countries/
- Jolley, D., & Douglas, K. M. (2014). The effects of anti-vaccine conspiracy theories on vaccination intentions. *PLoS ONE*, 9(2). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089177
- Jolley, D., & Douglas, K. M. (2017). Prevention is better than cure: Addressing anti- vaccine conspiracy theories. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 47(8), 459–469. doi: 10.1111/jasp.12453
- Karafillakis, E., Dinca, I., Apfel, F., Cecconi, S., Wűrz, A., Takacs, J., Suk, J., Celentano, L. P., Kramarz, P., & Larson, H. J. (2016). Vaccine hesitancy among healthcare workers in Europe: A qualitative

study. *Vaccine*, *34*(41), 5013–5020. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.08.029

- Karafillakis, E., & Larson, H. J. (2017). The benefit of the doubt or doubts over benefits? A systematic literature review of perceived risks of vaccines in European populations. *Vaccine*, *35*(37), 4840–4850. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.07.061
- Karlsson, L., Tolvanen, M., Scheinin, N. M., Uusitupa, H. M., Korja, R., Ekholm, E., Tuulari, J. J., Pajulo, M., Huotilainen, M., Paunio, T., Karlsson, H., & FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study Group. (2018). Cohort profile: The FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study (FinnBrain). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 47(1), 15–16j. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyx173
- Kata, A. (2010). A postmodern Pandora's box: Anti-vaccination misinformation on the Internet. *Vaccine*, 28(7), 1709–1716. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.12.022
- Kempthorne, J. C., & Terrizzi, J. A. (2021). The behavioral immune system and conservatism as predictors of disease-avoidant attitudes during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Personality* and Individual Differences. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021.110857
- Kline, R. B. (2016). *Principles and Practice* of Structural Equation Modeling (4th ed.). The Guilford Press.
- Krawczyk, K., Chelkowski, T., Laydon, D. J., Mishra, S., Xifara, D., Gibert, B., Flaxman, S., Mellan, T., Schwämmle, V., Röttger, R., Hadsund, J. T., & Bhatt, S. (2021). Quantifying online news media coverage of the COVID-19 pandemic: Text mining study and resource. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 23*(6). doi: 10.2196/28253

- Kunda, Z. (1990). The case for motivated reasoning. *Psychological Bulletin, 108*(3), 480–498. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.108.3.480
- Larsen, M., Nyrup, J., & Petersen, M. B. (2020). Do survey estimates of the public's compliance with COVID-19 regulations suffer from social desirability bias? *Journal of Behavioral Public Administration*, *3*(2), 1–9. doi: 10.30636/jbpa.32.164
- Larson, H. J., Clarke, R. M., Jarrett, C., Eckersberger, E., Levine, Z., Schulz, W. S., & Paterson, P. (2018). Measuring trust in vaccination: A systematic review. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*, *14*(7), 1599–1609. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1459252
- Larson, H. J., Cooper, L. Z., Eskola, J., Katz, S. L., & Ratzan, S. (2011). Addressing the vaccine confidence gap. *The Lancet*, *378*(9790), 526–535. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60678-8
- Larson, H. J., Jarrett, C., Eckersberger, E., Smith, D. M. D., & Paterson, P. (2014). Understanding vaccine hesitancy around vaccines and vaccination from a global perspective: A systematic review of published literature, 2007-2012. *Vaccine*, *32*(19), 2150–2159. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.01.081
- Lazarus, J. V., Ratzan, S. C., Palayew, A., Gostin, L. O., Larson, H. J., Rabin, K., Kimball, S., & El-Mohandes, A. (2020). A global survey of potential acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine. *Nature Medicine, 27*, 225–228. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1124-9
- Lewandowsky, S., & Cook, J. (2020). The conspiracy theory handbook. http://sks.to/conspiracy

Lewandowsky, S., Cook, J., Ecker, U., Albarracin, D., Amazeen, M., Kendou, P., Lombardi, D., Newman, E., Pennycook, G., Porter, E., Rand, D., Rapp, D., Reifler, J., Roozenbeek, J., Schmid, P., Seifert, C., Sinatra, G., Swire-Thompson, B., van der Linden, S., ... Zaragoza, M. (2020). *The Debunking Handbook 2020*. doi: 10.17910/b7.1182

Lewandowsky, S., Ecker, U., Seifert, C. M., Schwarz, N., & Cook, J. (2012). Misinformation and its correction: Continued influence and successful debiasing. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, *13*(3), 106–131. doi: 10.1177/1529100612451018

Lewandowsky, S., & van der Linden, S. (2021). Countering misinformation and fake news through inoculation and prebunking. *European Review of Social Psychology*. doi: 10.1080/10463283.2021.1876983

Lewandowsky, S., Woike, J. K., & Oberauer, K. (2020). Genesis or evolution of gender differences? Worldviewbased dilemmas in the processing of scientific information. *Journal of Cognition*, 3(1), 1–25. doi: 10.5334/joc.99

Lin, Y., Hu, Z., Zhao, Q., Alias, H., Danaee, M., & Wong, L. P. (2020).
Understanding COVID-19 vaccine demand and hesitancy: A nationwide online survey in China. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 14(12). doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0008961

Loomba, S., de Figueiredo, A., Piatek, S. J., de Graaf, K., & Larson, H. J. (2021). Measuring the impact of COVID-19 vaccine misinformation on vaccination intent in the UK and USA. *Nature Human Behaviour, 5*, 337–348. doi: 10.1038/s41562-021-01056-1 Luz, P. M., Brown, H. E., & Struchiner, C. J. (2019). Disgust as an emotional driver of vaccine attitudes and uptake? A mediation analysis. *Epidemiology and Infection, 147,* e182. doi: 10.1017/S0950268819000517

Ma, K. K., Schaffner, W., Colmenares, C., Howser, J., Jones, J., & Poehling, K. A. (2006). Influenza vaccinations of young children increased with media coverage in 2003. *Pediatrics*, *117*(2), e157–e163. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-1079

MacDonald, N. E., & the SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy. (2015). Vaccine hesitancy: Definition, scope and determinants. *Vaccine*, *33*(34), 4161–4164. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.036

Makhanova, A., & Shepherd, M. A. (2020). Behavioral immune system linked to responses to the threat of COVID-19. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *167*. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110221

Malik, A. A., McFadden, S. M., Elharake, J., & Omer, S. B. (2020). Determinants of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance in the US. *EClinicalMedicine*, *26*. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100495

Metcalf, C. J. E., Ferrari, M., Graham, A. L., & Grenfell, B. T. (2015). Understanding Herd Immunity. *Trends in Immunology*, *36*(12), 753– 755. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.10.004

Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. (2021). *Maternity and child health clinics*. https://stm.fi/en/maternityand-child-health-clinics

Miton, H., & Mercier, H. (2015). Cognitive obstacles to pro-vaccination beliefs. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 19*(11), 633–636. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.08.007 Morales, K. F., Menning, L., & Lambach, P. (2020). The faces of influenza vaccine recommendation: A literature review of the determinants and barriers to health providers' recommendation of influenza vaccine in pregnancy. *Vaccine*, *38*(31), 4805–4815. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.04.033

Moran, M. B., Lucas, M., Everhart, K., Morgan, A., & Prickett, E. (2016). What makes anti-vaccine websites persuasive? A content analysis of techniques used by anti- vaccine websites to engender anti-vaccine sentiment. *Journal of Communication in Healthcare*, 9(3), 151–163. doi: 10.1080/17538068.2016.1235531

Murphy, J., Vallières, F., Bentall, R. P., Shevlin, M., McBride, O., Hartman, T., McKay, R., Bennett, K., Mason, L., Gibson-Miller, J., Levita, L., Martinez, A. P., Stocks, T. V. A., Karatzias, T., & Hyland, P. (2020). Preparing for a COVID-19 vaccine: Identifying and psychologically profiling those who are vaccine hesitant or resistant in two general population samples. *PsyArXiv*.

https://psyarxiv.com/pev2b/

Napolitano, F., D'Alessandro, A., & Angelillo, I. F. (2018). Investigating Italian parents' vaccine hesitancy: A cross-sectional survey. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*, 14(7), 1558–1565. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1463943

Napolitano, F., Napolitano, P., & Angelillo, I. F. (2017). Seasonal influenza vaccination in pregnant women: Knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors in Italy. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *17*(48), 1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12879-016-2138-2 Napolitano, F., Navaro, M., Vezzosi, L., Santagati, G., & Angelillo, I. F. (2018). Primary care pediatricians' attitudes and practice towards HPV vaccination: A nationwide survey in Italy. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(3), 1–12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194920

- Neumann-Böhme, S., Varghese, N. E., Sabat, I., Barros, P. P., Brouwer, W., van Exel, J., Schreyögg, J., & Stargardt, T. (2020). Once we have it, will we use it? A European survey on willingness to be vaccinated against COVID-19. *The European Journal of Health Economics, 21*, 977–982. doi: 10.1007/s10198-020-01208-6
- Nyhan, B., Reifler, J., Richey, S., & Freed, G. (2014). Effective messages in vaccine promotion: A randomized trial. *Pediatrics*, *133*(4), e835–e842. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-2365
- O'Leary, S. T., Brewer, S. E., Pyrzanowski, J., Barnard, J., Sevick, C., Furniss, A., & Dempsey, A. F. (2018). Timing of information-seeking about infant vaccines. *Journal of Pediatrics, 203*, 125-130.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.07.046
- Oaten, M., Stevenson, R. J., & Case, T. I. (2009). Disgust as a diseaseavoidance mechanism. *Psychological Bulletin*, *135*(2), 303–321. doi: 10.1037/a0014823
- Omer, S. B., Enger, K. S., Moulton, L. H., Halsey, N. A., Stokley, S., & Salmon, D. A. (2008). Geographic clustering of nonmedical exemptions to school immunization requirements and associations with geographic clustering of pertussis. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 168(12), 1389–1396. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwn263
Paterson, P., Meurice, F., Stanberry, L. R., Glismann, S., Rosenthal, S. L., & Larson, H. J. (2016). Vaccine hesitancy and healthcare providers. *Vaccine*, *34*(52), 6700–6706. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.10.042

Paul, E., Steptoe, A., & Fancourt, D. (2021). Attitudes towards vaccines and intention to vaccinate against COVID-19: Implications for public health communications. *The Lancet Regional Health - Europe*, 1. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2020.100012

Peretti-Watel, P., Larson, H. J., Ward, J. K., Schulz, W. S., & Verger, P. (2015). Vaccine hesitancy: Clarifying a theoretical framework for an ambiguous notion. *PLoS Currents, 7*. doi: 10.1371/currents.outbreaks.6844c8

0ff9f5b273f34c91f71b7fc289

Phadke, V. K., Bednarczyk, R. A., Daniel A. Salmon, D. A., & Omer, S. B. (2016). Association between vaccine refusal and vaccine-preventable diseases in the United States: A review of measles and pertussis. *JAMA*, *315*(11), 1149–1158. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.1353

Polack, F. P., Thomas, S. J., Kitchin, N., Absalon, J., Gurtman, A., Lockhart, S., Perez, J. L., Pérez Marc, G., Moreira, E. D., Zerbini, C., Bailey, R., Swanson, K. A., Roychoudhury, S., Koury, K., Li, P., Kalina, W. V., Cooper, D., Frenck, R. W., Hammitt, L. L., ... Gruber, W. C. (2020). Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine. *The New England Journal of Medicine, 383*(27), 2603–2615. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2034577

Reuben, R., Aitken, D., Freedman, J. L., & Einstein, G. (2020). Mistrust of the medical profession and higher disgust sensitivity predict parental vaccine hesitancy. *PLoS ONE*. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237755

Rhodes, A., Hoq, M., Measey, M. A., & Danchin, M. (2020). Intention to vaccinate against COVID-19 in Australia. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30724-6

Rosenberg, B. D., & Siegel, J. T. (2018). A 50-year review of psychological reactance theory: Do not read this article. *Motivation Science*, 4(4), 281–300. doi: 10.1037/mot0000091

Rosenstock, I. M. (1966). Why people use health services. *Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly*, 44(3), 94–124.

Ruiz, J. B., & Bell, R. A. (2021). Predictors of intention to vaccinate against COVID-19: Results of a nationwide survey. *Vaccine*, 39(7), 1080–1086. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.01.010

Sadaf, A., Richards, J. L., Glanz, J., Salmon, D. a., & Omer, S. B. (2013). A systematic review of interventions for reducing parental vaccine refusal and vaccine hesitancy. *Vaccine*, *31*(40), 4293–4304. v10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.07.013

Salmon, D. A., Dudley, M. Z., Glanz, J. M., & Omer, S. B. (2015). Vaccine hesitancy: Causes, consequences, and a call to action. *Vaccine*, *33*(Supp_4), D66–D71. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.09.035

Sarkanen, T., Alakuijala, A., Julkunen, I., & Partinen, M. (2018). Narcolepsy associated with Pandemrix vaccine. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports, 18*(43). doi: 10.1007/s11910-018-0851-5

Sarkanen, T., Alakuijala, A. P. E., Dauvilliers, Y. A., & Partinen, M. M. (2018). Incidence of narcolepsy after H1N1 influenza and vaccinations: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews, 38,* 177–186. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.06.006

- Schaller, M. (2006). Parasites, behavioral defenses, and the social psychological mechanisms through which cultures are evoked. *Psychological Inquiry*, *17*(2), 96– 101. doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli1702_2
- Schaller, M., & Park, J. H. (2011). The behavioral immune system (and why it matters). *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *20*(2), 99– 103. doi:

10.1177/0963721411402596

- Schmid, P., Rauber, D., Betsch, C., Lidolt, G., & Denker, M.-L. (2017). Barriers of influenza vaccination intention and behavior-A systematic review of influenza vaccine hesitancy, 2005-2016. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(1), 1–46. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170550
- Shook, N. J., Sevi, B., Lee, J., Oosterhoff, B., & Fitzgerald, H. N. (2020). Disease avoidance in the time of COVID-19: The behavioral immune system is associated with concern and preventative health behaviors. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(8), e0238015. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238015
- Smith, L. E., Amlôt, R., Weinman, J., Yiend, J., & Rubin, G. J. (2017). A systematic review of factors affecting vaccine uptake in young children. *Vaccine*, 35(45), 6059–6069. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.09.046
- Smith, M. J., Ellenberg, S. S., Bell, L. M., & Rubin, D. M. (2008). Media coverage of the measles-mumps-rubella vaccine and autism controversy and its relationship to MMR immunization rates in the United

States. *Pediatrics*, *121*(4), e836– e843. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1760

- Song, Y., Zhang, T., Chen, L., Yi, B., Hao, X., Zhou, S., Zhang, R., & Greene, C. (2017). Increasing seasonal influenza vaccination among high risk groups in China: Do community healthcare workers have a role to play? *Vaccine*, 35(33), 4060–4063. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.06.054
- Suppli, C. H., Hansen, N. D., Rasmussen, M., Valentiner-Branth, P., Krause, T. G., & Mølbak, K. (2018). Decline in HPV-vaccination uptake in Denmark - The association between HPVrelated media coverage and HPVvaccination. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(1360), 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6268-x
- Taylor, L. E., Swerdfeger, A. L., & Eslick, G. D. (2014). Vaccines are not associated with autism: An evidence-based meta-analysis of case-control and cohort studies. *Vaccine*, *32*(29), 3623–3629. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.04.085
- The Finnish Medical Society Duodecim. (2021). *Current care guidelines*. https://www.kaypahoito.fi/en/
- Thomson, A., Robinson, K., & Vallée-Tourangeau, G. (2016). The 5As: A practical taxonomy for the determinants of vaccine uptake. *Vaccine*, *34*(8), 1018–1024. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.11.065
- Učakar, V., & Kraigher, A. (2019). Acceptance of seasonal influenza vaccination among Slovenian physicians, 2016. *Zdravstveno Varstvo, 58*(1), 47–53. doi: 10.2478/sjph-2019-0006
- Vai, B., Cazzetta, S., Ghiglino, D., Parenti, L., Saibene, G., Toti, M., Verga, C., Wykowska, A., & Benedetti, F. (2020). Risk Perception and Media

in Shaping Protective Behaviors: Insights From the Early Phase of COVID-19 Italian Outbreak. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.563426

- Virtanen, M., Vahtera, J., Batty, G. D., Tuisku, K., Oksanen, T., Elovainio, M., Ahola, K., Pentti, J., Salo, P., A-M, V., & Kivimäki, M. (2011). Health risk behaviors and morbidity among hospital staff – comparison across hospital ward medical specialties in a study of 21 Finnish hospitals. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3264
- Wardle, J., Frawley, J., Steel, A., & Sullivan, E. (2016). Complementary medicine and childhood immunisation: A critical review. *Vaccine*, *34*(38), 4484–4500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2 016.07.026
- WHO. (2019). Ten threats to global health in 2019.
 https://www.who.int/newsroom/spotlight/ten-threats-toglobal-health-in-2019
- WHO. (2020). WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020.

https://www.who.int/dg/speeches /detail/who-director-general-sopening-remarks-at-the-mediabriefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020 WHO. (2021). Vaccines and immunization. https://www.who.int/healthtopics/vaccines-andimmunization#tab=tab_1

- Wilson, R., Zaytseva, A., Bocquier, A., Nokri, A., Fressard, L., Chamboredon, P., Carbonaro, C., Bernardi, S., Dubé, E., & Verger, P. (2020). Vaccine hesitancy and selfvaccination behaviors among nurses in southeastern France. *Vaccine*, *38*(5), 1144–1151. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.11.018
- Wong, L. P., Alias, H., Wong, P.-F., Lee, H. Y., & AbuBakar, S. (2020). The use of the health belief model to assess predictors of intent to receive the COVID-19 vaccine and willingness to pay. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*, 16(9), 2204– 2214. doi:

10.1080/21645515.2020.1790279

- Yeung, M. P. S., Lam, F. L. Y., & Coker, R. (2016). Factors associated with the uptake of seasonal influenza vaccination in adults: A systematic review. *Journal of Public Health*, *38*(4), 746–753. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdv194
- Zintel, S., Flock, C., Arbogast, A. L., Forster, A., von Wagner, C., & Sieverding, M. (2021). Gender differences in the intention to get vaccinated against COVID-19—A systematic review and meta-analysis. *SSRN*. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3803323

Linda Karlsson

Psychological factors associated with vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors

The present thesis investigated psychological correlates of vaccine attitudes and vaccination behaviors among the public and healthcare professionals in Finland. The results showed that vaccine attitudes are related to vaccination behaviors and intentions, and that personality-related factors and psychological disease-avoidance mechanisms might motivate individuals to hold certain vaccine attitudes, and to accept or reject vaccines. Most healthcare professionals held positive vaccine attitudes, but those who doubted the safety and efficacy of vaccines were less likely to guide patients towards accepting vaccination.